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“We wish to offer 
our sincerest thanks 
to all our customers

because they are, 
after all, 

our real bosses.”
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trademarks of Canam Group Inc. Hambro is a trademark of Hambro International
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Our Mission

To be recognized as a leader in the design,
fabrication and marketing of building
solutions by distinguishing ourselves
through the quality of our products and
services, our continuous innovation, our
exceptional customer service, the expertise
and dedication of our people, and our
commitment to the environment.

Our Values

• Integrity

• Total client satisfaction: 
Exceptional service

• Excellent relations with our personnel
and business partners

• First quality products: Non-negotiable

• High-efficiency production

• Safe, clean and orderly work environment

• Good corporate citizen
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By the end of 2009, Canam Group’s net earnings were
$20.1 million, or $0.45 per share, compared with $48.4 million, or
$1.00 per share, at the close of 2008. Shareholders’ equity came
in at $401million, and the Company’s net debt 
fell sharply to $0.3million, for a net debt to
Adjusted EBITDA ratio of 0.01. This ratio was
0.75 at the end of 2008.

We knew at the start of 2009 that we
would not escape the recession unscathed, but
we were confident that we could weather the
storm without undermining our continuous improvement
efforts, our ability to develop new products and services or 
our capacity to seize opportunities for growth.

Our confidence was based on hard work and strict
discipline to diversify our business unit offerings, modernize 
our plants to make them more versatile and build a solid 
balance sheet.

Clearly our strategy has paid off. We are proud of our 
2009 financial results, which show substantial net earnings
despite the economic downturn.

Staying focused on our development goals
The examples that follow describe the steps we took in

2009 to achieve the three development goals which are central
to our strategy.

• Innovation, manufacturing efficiency 
and on-site productivity

Our presence in the stadium market has enabled us to
address the need of owners to increase their seating capacity
without creating additional loading on the existing structure. 
Our team of engineers developed an aluminum riser concept
that was chosen by the Université Laval in Quebec City to add
2,105 seats to its football stadium. Another riser project will 
be carried out at the Parc Jean-Drapeau aquatic complex in
Montreal in the spring of 2010. We see great potential for this
product, which has a patent pending.

In the bridge sector, we developed an orthotropic panel
concept to replace existing bridge decks quickly and economi-
cally. Our first orthotropic deck contract came from the Illinois

Department of Transportation for a project 
to replace the existing open-grid deck on the
Congress Parkway Bridge in Chicago by a
closed deck system without increasing the
mobile structure’s dead load. Judging from 
the number of highway bridges that will need 
to be rehabilitated in the coming years, we
foresee a promising future for this product.

Our steady efforts to upgrade our tools and production
methods and increase the capacity of many of our Canadian 
and U.S. plants continued into 2009.

• Leadership in the digital revolution

We have listened to design engineers and other 
construction industry professionals and fully understand their
need to integrate design and fabrication data into a single 
model in order to accelerate the construction process and, 
more importantly, eliminate the risk of error. As fabricators and
building owners know all too well, errors contribute to cost
overruns and schedule delays.

After landing our first 3D modeling contracts in 2008, 
we maintained our position at the forefront of the digital
revolution by acquiring a majority stake in InteliBuild Limited, a 
Hong Kong-based company that offers value-added consulting
services on construction projects that use the BIM digital model
in Asia, China and the Middle East. Besides helping us to
consolidate our position as a leading technical service provider
in the construction sector, this acquisition will allow us to
expand into the Asian market.

MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS, 
EMPLOYEES AND PARTNERS

“Our confidence was based on
hard work and strict discipline 
to diversify our business unit

offerings, modernize our plants
and build a solid balance sheet.”



• Leadership in the construction 
of energy-efficient buildings

Canam Group continued to invest
in the future, positioning itself to lead 
in the design and construction of
energy-efficient buildings so that it can
respond to the growing demand for this
type of product as concerns over the
environment and rising energy costs
become larger issues.

The many projects that have used
the new Murox ventilated thermal panel
and the awards this product has earned
are indicative of the inroads we are
making in this field.

A major acquisition
Our acquisition of FabSouth, LLC at the end of February

2010 is further proof of our commitment to grow the Company
and create additional value for our shareholders. FabSouth 
will not only help boost our capacity to produce heavy structural
steel, but will also allow us to expand our reach in the
southeastern United States.

Order backlog
At the close of 2009, our backlog stood at $460 million,

including $277million worth of fabricated products, compared
with $444million, including $313million worth of fabricated
products, at the same time a year earlier. The infrastructure and
bridge sector accounted for a large portion of our orders.

Canam’s 50th anniversary
Looking ahead, we are pleased to report that the year 

2010 will mark the 50th anniversary of the founding of Canam, 
which was incorporated on August 15, 1960, and started its
manufacturing operations on May 5, 1961. We are proud of this
major milestone in the history of Canam Group and proud that
we will be celebrating it with our customers, employees, business
partners and directors. 

Our thanks
In closing, we wish to offer our

sincerest thanks to all our customers
because they are, after all, our real
“bosses”.

We would like to extend to all
Canam Group personnel our sincere
gratitude and appreciation for their
contribution throughout the year. And 
of course we salute our Jacksonville, FL
and Sunnyside, WA plant employees
who achieved a flawless safety record
with no lost-time incidents in 2009. 
By December 31, our Jacksonville team 

had scored a record 29 consecutive months with zero lost-time
incidents. We thank all our employees for their daily participation
in our health and safety efforts.

As well, we thank all the members of our Board of Directors
for their commitment, support and wise counsel over the course
of the year.

Marcel Dutil, C.M.
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Marc Dutil
President and Chief Operating Officer

February 23, 2010
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Canam Group pursued
efforts to upgrade its
tools and production
methods and increase

the capacity of its plants.
Tiécoro Keïta, Drafter, Goodco Z-Tech
Laval, Quebec
Michel Moisan, Welding Inspector
Shirley Fortier, Welder
St. Gédéon de Beauce, Quebec

Canam Group Inc.



Canam United States designs and fabricates
open-web joists and structural trusses, steel 
deck, and the VertiSpace mezzanine system for 
the U.S. market. Its experienced and innovative

engineering teams, American Institute of Steel Construction-certified
plants, and American Welding Society-certified welders provide Canam
U.S. with the vital advantages needed to excel in a highly competitive
market with challenging designs and ambitious deadlines. 

www.canam.ws

Canam International exports Canam Group’s
expertise by developing profitable partnerships
with reputable firms located outside North

America that wish to fabricate and market specific construction products
in their respective markets.

www.canaminternational.ws
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Canam Canada specializes in the fabrication of
steel joists, joist girders and steel deck, and is the
exclusive Canadian distributor of Versa-Dek® and
Deep-Dek® structural and architectural metal deck

products. The business unit also designs and fabricates Murox® high
performance building envelope systems. One of the largest steel joist
fabricators in North America, Canam Canada offers value-added
engineering and drafting support, architectural flexibility and 
customized solutions and service. 

www.canam.ws

Structal-Heavy Steel Construction, which
specializes in the fabrication of heavy structural
steel components, executes major, highly technical
construction projects in North America for

general contractors, engineering firms and building owners.

www.structal.ws

Structal-Bridges, the largest steel bridge
manufacturer in Canada and a key player in the
United States, specializes in the design, fabrication
and erection of bridges as well as Goodco 

Z-Tech structural bearings and expansion joints. The business unit
executes all types of projects for general contractors in the civil
engineering sector, provincial and state departments of transportation,
railway companies and forestry businesses. 

www.structalbridges.ws

Technyx markets outsourcing services in the
detailing and Building Information Modeling
(BIM) support sectors from its offices in 
St. Georges and Boucherville (Canada), Brasov

(Romania), Kolkata (India) and Hong Kong.
www.technyx.ws

Hambro meets the needs of residential and
multiresidential markets by providing owners, 
real estate developers and general contractors
with optimized construction solutions. The

business unit offers an array of structural components, including its
D500 composite floor system, Hambro girders and transfer slabs, 
which can be combined in order to design better adapted and more
functional buildings.

www.hambro.ws

Canam Group Inc.

OUR PROFILE

Canam Group Inc. is an industrial company operating 12 plants specialized in the design and fabrication of construction 
products and solutions, which are marketed by seven business units in the commercial, industrial, institutional, multiresidential, 
and bridge and highway infrastructure markets.

Each business unit is led by an experienced management team mandated to ensure profitability and growth, thus contributing to 
the success of Canam Group. The diversification of its markets allows the Company to deliver maximum returns to its shareholders.
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Boucherville, QC
Capacity: 65,000 tons

Area: 108,200 sq. ft. (10,050 m2)
Products: Steel deck, cold-formed sections,

purlins and girts 

Calgary, AB
Capacity: 40,000 tons

Area: 133,000 sq. ft. (12,355 m2)
Products: Joists, girders, steel deck 

and Hambro joists

Claremont, NH
Capacity: 12,500 tons

Area: 180,000 sq. ft. (16,720 m2)
Products: Bridges, structural steel

components and welded beams

Jacksonville, FL
Capacity: 60,000 tons

Area: 205,800 sq. ft. (19,120 m2)
Products: Joists, steel deck, Hambro joists

and the VertiSpace mezzanine
system

Laval, QC
Area: 61,900 sq. ft. (5,750 m2)

Products: Structural bearings, 
expansion joints and related 
products for bridges and other 
structures

Mississauga, ON
Capacity: 60,000 tons

Area: 214,700 sq. ft. (19,945 m2)
Products: Joists, girders and steel deck

Point of Rocks, MD
Capacity: 60,000 tons

Area: 250,400 sq. ft. (23,260 m2)
Products: Joists, structural steel

components, bridges, steel deck
and the VertiSpace mezzanine
system

Quebec City, QC
Capacity: 25,000 tons

Area: 195,000 sq. ft. (18,115 m2)
Products: Bridges, structural steel

components and welded beams

St. Gédéon de Beauce, QC
Capacity: 115,000 tons

Area: 477,200 sq. ft. (44,335 m2)
Products: Joists, girders, Hambro joists,

Murox systems, structural steel
components and bridges

Sunnyside, WA (two plants)
Capacity: 52,000 tons

Area: 130,900 sq. ft. (12,160 m2)
119,300 sq. ft. (11,085 m2)

Products: Joists, structural steel 
components, bridges, steel deck, 
Hambro joists and the VertiSpace 
mezzanine system

Washington, MO
Capacity: 40,000 tons

Area: 145,300 sq. ft. (13,500 m2)
Products: Joists, structural steel

components and the VertiSpace
mezzanine system

Canam Group’s 12 plants are grouped under the Manufacturing Division, which is responsible for the production of all 
components marketed by our business units. Our total annual production capacity is 529,500 tons and our plants cover an area of
2,221,700 square feet (206,395 m2).

OUR CAPACITY
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OUR REACH

The Company employs close to 2,500 people and has operations in Canada, India, Romania and the United States. Canam Group
also has ownership interests in companies in China, Hong Kong, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates, as well as technology
transfer agreements in France, Mexico, Russia and Vietnam.

  PLANTS AND OFFICES Number
Location of employees

Canam Group Inc.
Boucherville, QC Administrative center 20
St. Georges, QC Head office 8
Manufacturing Division and Business Units
Boucherville, QC Plant and sales, drafting, engineering

and operational support offices 191
Brasov, Romania Drafting office 304
Calgary, AB Plant and sales office 127
Claremont, NH Plant 82
Coquitlam, BC Sales office 6
Deerfield Beach, FL Sales office 13
Easton, MA Sales office 22
Jacksonville, FL Plant and sales office 107

  PLANTS AND OFFICES Number
Location of employees

Kolkata, India Drafting office 60
Laval, QC Plant and sales office 72
Mississauga, ON Plant and sales office 130
Moncton, NB Sales office 23
Point of Rocks, MD Plant and sales office 209
Quebec City, QC Plant and sales office 214
St. Gédéon de Beauce, QC Plant 535
Sunnyside, WA Plant and sales office 93
St. Georges, QC Sales, drafting, engineering

and operational support offices 158
Washington, MO Plant and sales office 102
Total: 2,476

As at December 31, 2009

Plant

Office

Partnership/
Technology transfer
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Structal-Bridges 
continued to invest 

in the Claremont, NH
plant to bolster its 

production capacity.
David Waterhouse, General Helper
Donna Legendre, Welder
Norberto Castellano, Operator
Claremont, New Hampshire

Canam Group Inc.
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Canam Canada
Even though sales dropped significantly and the order

backlog decreased for all products compared to last year, Canam
Canada emerged as a strong player in the non-residential
construction market in 2009.

Canam Canada undertook many initiatives that helped it
stand out from the competition and maintain its leadership
position in its  markets. In 2009, Canam signed an agreement
with Metal Dek Group®, a unit of Consolidated Systems Inc.,
giving it the exclusive right to market and sell its architectural
and structural metal deck, known as Versa-Dek® and Deep-
Dek®, in Canada. Canam executed a number of projects
incorporating Versa-Dek® in 2009 and implemented the
necessary marketing strategies.

Canam Canada assembled a business development team
dedicated to supporting architects from the outset of their
projects. This highly qualified team travels across Canada and
New England to raise awareness of the various architectural
solutions offered by the Canam Canada business unit.

Canam Canada continued to promote its value-added
engineering services. The overall readership of Canam Info-Tech
rose 9.1% over 2008. As well, Canam added two new interactive
calculation tools to the nine already on its website.

Canam Canada worked on eight infrastructure projects for
the 2010 Winter Olympic Games in Vancouver and participated 
in the construction of over 20 sports facilities this past year.

Canam Canada designed and fabricated more than 3,000
tons of joists, joist girders, steel deck and structural steel for
eight buildings that will be part of Uptown, a massive mixed-use
development in the heart of Saanich, British Columbia, slated 
to open in 2010.

In December 2009, Canam Canada began the process of
integrating the Murox business unit, with Murox becoming a
brand name for high performance buildings. This change will
enable Canam to expand its geographic reach and broaden its
range of solutions.

Murox high performance buildings were instrumental in
developing entirely new market niches such as aircraft hangars.
Many aircraft hangars have been manufactured under the
Murox name since 1993, including five in the past two years. 
A strategic plan was put in place in early 2009 to build a
stronger brand image in this niche market.

The Murox ventilated thermal panel was officially brought
to market in 2009 with new sales tools, including an online
energy savings calculator. Developed by the research and
development team and accredited by Natural Resources Canada
in 2009, the Murox ventilated thermal panel consists of a solar
panel integrated into a standard Murox panel and is designed 
to take passive energy from the sun. The ventilated thermal 
panel won three Contech awards presented for technological
innovation at trade shows held in Montreal, Quebec City 
and Rimouski. 

Canam Group Inc.

REVIEW OF OUR ACTIVITIES

Fabrication of the 3,000 tons of joists and steel deck required for
the Vancouver Convention and Exhibition Centre expansion project
in Vancouver, British Columbia, was carried out in the Calgary, AB
plant. This building earned LEED® certification.

Designed and fabricated with the Murox system, the new
35,000-square-foot (3,250 m2) building for the Porsche Prestige
dealer in Montreal features a showroom with a mezzanine, 
a garage, a car elevator and a rooftop parking lot.



In 2010, Canam Canada will pursue its efforts to 
assume a leadership role in the design-build field thanks to
energy-efficient buildings and in the promotion of complex and
architectural projects. Canam will also continue to spearhead
initiatives aimed at enhancing its reputation in the fields of
innovation, manufacturing efficiency and on-site productivity.
Canam is focused on working closely with each of its customers
as a business partner with an extensive portfolio of building
solutions. 

Canam United States
The U.S. non-residential construction sector had another

sluggish year, experiencing a 32% drop in manufacturing activity.
Steel Joist Institute (SJI) figures show that steel joist shipments
decreased 51% compared to last year, creating severe
overcapacity for the industry. The significant decline in demand
caused prices to drop substantially.

Despite fierce competition, Canam United States managed
to hold on to its share of the U.S. market. Nonetheless, low
production volumes forced management to reorganize in 
order to adjust Canam’s production capacity and workforce 
to weaker market demand. The decision to close a number of
production lines in the U.S. plants, either temporarily or
permanently, led to a downsizing of personnel in 2009.

One of Canam United States’ strategies to offset the
negative impact of low demand for steel joists was to diversify 
its operations. Bridge and structural steel production lines were
added to the Point of Rocks, MD and Sunnyside, WA plants. The
positive effects of this investment will be felt gradually beginning
in 2010.

Other strategic initiatives will be launched in 2010 to
capitalize on Canam United States’ new product and service
offerings and build on its reputation for complex and specially
shaped joists, trusses and the VertiSpace mezzanine system.

Structal-Heavy Steel Construction
Structal-Heavy Steel Construction had a good year, 

marked primarily by the completion of four major projects,
namely Meadowlands Stadium (New York Giants and Jets), 
Red Bull Arena (New York Red Bulls), the Consol Energy Center
(Pittsburgh Penguins) and Edmonton Clinic North.

Another highlight of 2009 was the awarding of contracts
worth a total of $170 million to build retractable roofs for two
other major-league sports stadiums in North America.

The first contract, obtained in the second quarter of 2009,
was for the retractable roof on the Florida Marlins’ new ballpark.
The second was obtained in the third quarter for the world’s
largest cable-supported retractable roof on BC Place in
Vancouver, British Columbia.

The exclusive aluminum riser concept, a new lightweight
construction solution from Structal, took on the Quebec market
this year and caught the attention of many stadium and arena
owners across North America. Structal completed a 2,105-seat
turnkey riser project at the Université Laval sports complex
(Pavillon de l’Éducation Physique et des Sports - PEPS) in 
Quebec City, and will carry out another riser project at Parc
Jean-Drapeau in Montreal in the spring of 2010. Since aluminum
risers represent an attractive niche market, Structal will launch a
highly tailored marketing strategy in 2010.

REVIEW OF OUR ACTIVITIES
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Fabrication of the components for Edmonton Clinic North, carried
out in the Sunnyside, WA and Calgary, AB plants, was completed
at the end of July 2009.

The Sunnyside, WA plant fabricated 30 tons of barrel and
shortspan joists to support the green roof atop the West Elm
furniture store in Emeryville, California.



An estimated $20 million worth of other projects kept
Structal busy in 2009, including the Pratt & Whitney Canada
aeronautical centre and the roof of the Adresse symphonique
concert hall in the province of Quebec, as well as the Kaiser
Westside Medical Center and a covered grandstand for the
Centennial Grandstand in the state of Oregon.

The fabrication, delivery and erection phases of the
construction projects obtained since the second quarter of 
2009 will be carried out over the course of 2010 and 2011.

Structal-Bridges
In 2009, Structal-Bridges turned in an excellent performance

both in Canada and the United States, where many highway and
railway infrastructure projects were launched in an attempt to
stimulate the economy. In Quebec, Structal made steady
progress on the fabrication of components for the Highway 25
bridge, and landed a contract worth nearly $45 million for the
Highway 30 bridge crossing the St. Lawrence Seaway at the
Beauharnois Canal. Structal was also very visible in other parts 
of Canada and maintained its leadership position through the
successful completion of major projects such as the Pitt River
Bridge in Pitt Meadows, British Columbia.

Structal-Bridges was also very active in the United States,
especially in New York where it secured four contracts totaling
more than $36 million, one of which was for the reconstruction
of the Alexander Hamilton Bridge and its access ramps. Structal
continued to invest in the Claremont, NH plant to bolster its
capacity and, once the Point of Rocks, MD and Sunnyside, WA
plants earned AISC certification for bridge construction, also
began relying on these two facilities to increase production.
Structal is now in a position to consolidate its presence in the
U.S. market and bid on a greater number of projects there.

Sales of Goodco Z-Tech structural bearings and expansion
joints rose 39% over 2008, and guardrails were added to the
Goodco Z-Tech line of bridge-related products. The first orders
for this product were received in 2009.

Structal-Bridges closed the year with a record order book,
and the outlook remains favorable for 2010.

Hambro
Hambro is the only business unit of Canam Group to 

serve the residential construction market. In 2009, the economic
downturn saw housing starts fall 60% in the United States and
40% in Canada. Despite this severe decline and decreased sales
compared to last year, Hambro maintained its share of the
market by promoting the diversity of its services and the
expertise of its sales and distribution teams. During 2009,
Hambro successfully completed several multi-residential projects
in western Canada using its D500 floor joist, composite girder
and transfer slab products.

While signs are pointing to an economic recovery, 
Hambro cautions that 2010 will also be fraught with challenges
as residential construction struggles to emerge from the
recession in North America. Hambro’s strategic plan for the
coming year will focus on offering optimized residential building
solutions, while aiming to maximize the use of its products 
and increase Hambro’s visibility in its target markets.

13Canam Group Inc.

First deliveries of components for the construction of three
overpasses and the six-lane steel bridge over the Rivière des
Prairies took place in 2009, as part of the Highway 25 completion
project in Montreal.

The components fabricated for Red Bull Arena in the 
St. Gédéon de Beauce, QC and Point of Rocks, MD plants 
were ready in March 2009.



Technyx
In 2009, Technyx completed 300,000 detailing hours for

Canam Group’s other business units—virtually the same number
of hours as in 2008. This internal clientele accounts for 62% of
Technyx’s business activity. Technyx continued to develop its
expertise in new sectors of activity. In the summer of 2009,
Technyx began detailing bridges and Goodco Z-Tech structural
bearings for the Structal-Bridges business unit.

The hours Technyx billed external customers for technical
outsourcing services were down compared to last year.
Nevertheless, the demand for these services is expected to
remain stable, primarily in North America.

In 2009, Technyx launched a continuous improvement
program to increase productivity in its detailing offices. This
initiative will result in new management tools and training
sessions aimed at optimizing the value of Technyx’s outsourcing
services.

In late 2009, a joint venture was created between Technyx
and Hong Kong-based InteliBuild Limited, well known for its
consulting services on construction projects that use business
information modeling (BIM) and 3D digital models. The newly
created entity, in which Canam Group holds a majority interest,
will pursue its activities under the name of InteliBuild Technyx
Asia Limited. By expanding into the Asian market, Technyx will
be able to tap into InteliBuild’s expertise to offer cutting-edge
BIM services to its North American and European customers.

Canam International
Canam International allows Canam Group to boost its

global presence by helping to develop the construction industry
in Europe, the Middle East and Asia through technological
transfers and business partnerships.

In 2009, Zamil Steel Buildings Vietnam Co., Ltd. completed
its first project—a warehouse for Toll Logistics (Asia) Ltd. in
Singapore—using Canam products. Zamil Steel operates a plant
that was built in 2008 in the Amata Industrial Park in Bien Hoa
City near Ho Chi Minh to fabricate steel buildings, structural 
steel components and open-web steel joists.

During the second quarter, the Company’s Russian partner
KMA bought back Canam Group’s 35% stake in Canam Russia
Limited, whose name was subsequently changed to KMA Metall
Ltd. The plant located in Stary Oskol in Russia will continue to
fabricate and market Canam products. The technology transfer
agreement was extended until 2019.

For the Chinese company United Steel Structures Limited
(USSL), in which Canam Group has a 49% interest, the year 2009
was marked primarily by the execution of four industrial projects
requiring the fabrication of nearly 19,000 tons of structural steel.
One of these projects involved the fabrication of 7,245 tons of
structural steel components for the construction of a multi-fuel
co-generation power plant for Worsley Enterprises, Inc. in
Western Australia.

REVIEW OF OUR ACTIVITIES
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InteliBuild was honored for its work on the Cathay Pacific Cargo
Terminal at the Hong Kong International Airport, first in 2008
with the Autodesk BIM Award and then in 2009 with the
BIMFusion.com Award in the Digital BIM Tools for Coordinating
Building Systems category.

The USSL plant in Guangzhou, China, produced 7,245 tons of
structural steel components for the multi-fuel co-generation power
plant built for Worsley Enterprises, Inc. in Western Australia.



Canam Asia Limited, a joint venture between Zamil Steel
Industries and Canam Group (35% ownership), completed many
projects in the Persian Gulf region, particularly in Qatar and
Saudi Arabia. Notable among them was the project to fabricate
joists and steel deck for the construction of the 38-storey 
Al Faisal Tower in Qatar. Canam Asia’s efforts to attract new
projects include the addition of various steel deck sections to 
its product mix.

Manufacturing Division
The Manufacturing Division, which operates 12 plants in

Canada and the United States, is responsible for the fabrication
of products marketed by the business units of Canam Group. 
In 2009, the division undertook or pursued a number of
expansion and modernization projects aimed at boosting the
production capacity or efficiency of its plants or enhancing their
versatility.

In Canada, the work that started in 2008 to increase the
capacity of the St. Gédéon de Beauce, QC plant for producing
Murox buildings continued into the spring of 2009. The facility
gained an additional 17,000 square feet (1,580 m2) of space in
late 2009 to increase efficiency at the steel plate preparation
stage. Steel plates are used in the fabrication of heavy structural
steel and bridge structures.

On the U.S. side of the border, major changes took place 
at the Point of Rocks, MD and Sunnyside, WA plants to increase
their production capacity for structural steel components and
equip them to produce bridge components. Both plants earned
the American Institute of Steel Construction (AISC) certifications
(Simple Steel Bridge Structure, Major Steel Bridge and Fracture
Critical Endorsement) required to build bridges.

15Canam Group Inc.

Various programs contribute to an environment that fosters
creativity in employees and turns innovative ideas into reality.
Pictured above at the St. Gédéon de Beauce, QC plant are: Mario
Nadeau and Marc Bolduc, Longspan joist Assemblers, and Jimmy
Deblois, N/C Machine Operator.

The Canam Asia plant in Ra’s Al Khaymah in the United Arab
Emirates produced 740 tons of joists and 425 tons of steel deck 
for the floor system used in the construction of the 38-storey 
Al Faisal Tower in Qatar.



Innovation and Continuous Improvement
At Canam Group, both innovation and a spirit of

entrepreneurship are nurtured at all levels of the organization.
Canam Group has programs in place to foster creativity in
employees and turn innovative ideas into reality. In 2009, more
than 250 improvement ideas were implemented as a result of
these programs.

Improvements are also initiated at the management level.
The innovation support group (CREM), whose mission is to
ensure that operational processes are optimized in a structured
and rigorous manner, assists management staff in their efforts 
to improve the performance of equipment and processes and
develop products and services.

For example, CREM has been holding 5-S workshops at 
the Boucherville, QC plant since 2008. The 5-S process is an
effective Japanese-inspired approach to workplace organization
governed by simple, precise and powerful principles.

To date, six workshops have helped to improve the work
environment in six sectors of the Boucherville plant, with the
result that teams perform better and operations are safer.
Because employees are active participants, contributing to the
process of identifying the causes of inefficiency and proposing
solutions, these workshops have helped to strengthen the
feeling of belonging among employees and the entrepreneurial
culture. The 5-S workshops held at the Boucherville plant so 
far have involved 23 employees.

In 2009, CREM initiated or pursued some 80 projects 
that included Kaizen sessions, intensive training and workshops
on the re-engineering and development of new products and
services. The completed or ongoing projects to improve the
performance of equipment and processes yielded recurrent
savings of $2.4 million in 2009. Slightly more than 190 people
participated in CREM activities this past year.

REVIEW OF OUR ACTIVITIES
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The hazardous materials sector in the Boucherville plant 
after a 5-S workshop.

The projects to improve the performance of equipment and
processes yielded recurrent savings of $2.4 million in 2009.
Pictured above is a welder at the Point of Rocks, MD plant,
wearing protective headgear equipped with fresh air respiratory
equipment.
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The desire to live in a healthier environment is one of 
the core values that we share with employees. Canam Group 
is therefore intent both on becoming a leader in constructing
highly energy-efficient buildings as well as in reducing its own
ecological footprint.

A number of improvements were made in the Manufac -
turing Division to enhance our environmental performance. 
For example, the Structal-Bridges plant in Quebec City replaced
its entire lighting system with high-performance fixtures that use
considerably less energy while providing five times more
illumination.

Conversion to Digital Technologies
In addition to pursuing upgrades at different plants, 

2009 was also marked by the ongoing integration of digital
technologies in various in-house activities. This conversion 
falls under the internal component of one of three development
goals set out by Canam Group, which is to lead the digital
revolution that is reshaping the construction industry. The
introduction of new technologies has allowed the Company 
to streamline numerous processes and work methods, and 
in turn, to begin reducing its overall paper consumption. 

Significant efforts were also made in recent years to render
the majority of Company publications available online. A virtual
documentation center allows Internet users to download over
600 publications free of charge. In 2009, 48,348 documents were
downloaded from our websites compared to 2,015 that were
requested in paper format.

Another example of our conversion to digital technologies
is the replacement of paper Christmas cards by electronic cards.
In 2009, 3,762 virtual greeting cards were emailed to customers
and business partners compared to 1,517 in 2008, which
represents a 145% increase.

The Company’s efforts to promote the use of its online
tools can equally be seen in the increased number of visitors 
to Canam Group websites, which grew by 7.3% last year, from
268,482 in 2008 to 288,021 in 2009. Our statistics also show a
7.6% gain in the number of visits per user. An average of 4,567
pages are consulted on our websites every day. 

Visual Collaboration
Videoconferencing systems were also introduced at the

Company’s main business locations. This technology provides
employees with a better quality of life by reducing costs and the
amount of time spent travelling from one office to another with
the added benefit of cutting down on greenhouse gas emissions
produced by motor vehicles. 

ENVIRONMENT

The new videoconferencing equipment saved employees
approximately 60,000 kilometers and 700 hours in travelling 
last year between the St. Georges and Boucherville offices alone. 
Photo: Raynald Poulin, Programmer-Analyst; Louise Fortin,
Purchasing Manager, Steel Products; Peggy Lachance, 
Programmer-Analyst; Guillaume Morin, Programmer-Analyst;
and Dany Poulin, Coordinator, Manufacturing Software
Development. 

Steel, which contains a considerable amount of recycled material
and can be reused indefinitely, provides credits towards LEED®
certification. In the photo above, we see the newly expanded head
office of Promutuel Beauce-Etchemins in Beauceville, QC.
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Alexandre Parent, Laborer
Dany Pronovost, Laborer
Carl Dumont, Assembler
Martin St-Hilaire, Mechanic
Quebec City, Quebec

The 2010 outlook
remains favorable 
for the railway and

highway infrastructure
market.

18 Canam Group Inc.
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2009 was a year marked by strategic choices in the human
resources sector, as elsewhere, in order to contain costs as well
as position ourselves favorably for the economic recovery.

Last year, four collective agreements were renewed, two
Canam Group plants observed a full year without a lost-time
accident and Mississauga, Ontario employees celebrated their
25th anniversary as a member of the Canam Group family. 

Also, the Technyx office in Brasov, Romania was named
Large-Size Company of the Year in the Professional Services
category for the third consecutive year by the Brasov Chamber
of Commerce, while yet another St. Gédéon de Beauce plant
employee, Dominic Lessard, Manager, Maintenance and
Manufacturing Innovations, was presented with the Young
Executive of the Year award in the scope of the Gala distinction
jeunesse, a youth leadership gala that takes place annually in 
the Beauce area.

Labour Relations
A total of four collective agreements were renewed 

in 2009. Three contracts with unionized plant employees in
Mississauga, Ontario, and Boucherville, Quebec (purlins and
girts, steel deck fabrication), will extend over a five-year period
while the agreement with St. Gédéon de Beauce, Quebec,
employees will expire on January 31, 2015. 

Canam Group maintains ongoing relations with nine
accred ited associations that represent several employee groups
in its Manufacturing Division and continues to foster a respectful
relationship with its employees based on regular and candid
discussions.

Training
Training activities were prioritized according to needs in 

the Company’s key trades in order to promote greater employee
flexibility. With many challenges at hand, the management team
focused on balancing short-term needs with those that would
arise in the long term.

Canam Group also continued to build on the identification
and training of the next generation of managers as well as
coaching supervisors, who play a key role in employee retention
and loyalty. Supervisors are provided with various tools in order
to improve their leadership skills and abilities. 

Employee Health, Well-Being and Safety
Consistent and relevant measures taken over the years to

preserve the health, well-being and safety of employees have
enabled the Company to preserve its enviable position with

regards to workplace health and safety as compared to the
industry as a whole. 

Various prevention-oriented activities based on the 
sharing of best practices, a disciplined approach and the
involvement of all interested parties, have helped the Company
to maintain accident rates at stable levels. The Sunnyside plant 
in Washington and the Jacksonville, Florida plant both com -
pleted 2009 without a single lost-time accident. In fact, as at
December 31, 2009, the Jacksonville facility had not recorded 
a lost-time accident for a consecutive 29-month period. 

Health awareness campaigns also continued in 2009. 
At U.S. business locations, employees were eligible for a
comprehensive health evaluation in order to obtain pertinent
information early on that would empower them to make the
necessary lifestyle changes to improve their overall health. 
More than 400 employees took advantage of this program.

Benefits
In view of the poor results obtained on financial markets in

2008, the performance of Company pension plans came under
the scrutiny of both the management team and plan members in
the last year. However, the Canam Group Defined Contribution
Pension Plan, which covers the majority of Company employees
in Canada, was able to recover all the losses incurred in the
previous year during the course of 2009. 

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Technyx office in Brasov, Romania was named Large-Size
Company of the Year in the Professional Services category for 
the third consecutive year by the Brasov Chamber of Commerce.
Pictured above are Nastase Ovidiu, Team Leader, 
and Pica Leonard George, Detailer.
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Community Involvement
In keeping with its value of good corporate citizenship,

Canam Group supports charitable organizations and
encourages employees to participate in charitable activities and
causes they believe in. The company earmarks more than 1% 
of its pre-tax earnings to support local organizations dedicated
to well-being and health, education, the arts, sports and
community life.

In 2009, the Company gave to more than 300 causes 
and supported employees who contributed their own time and
effort to improve the quality of life in their respective communi-
ties. Among the organizations and programs helped by Canam
Group this past year were: the Association for Retarded Citizens,
the Heart and Stroke Foundation of New Brunswick, the CURE
Foundation, Moisson Beauce, Fondation du cœur Beauce-Etchemin,
the Canadian Cancer Society, the Susan G. Komen for the Cure®

Foundation, the Toys for Tots Program, the Foster and Adoptive
Care Coalition, the WINGS Educational Foundation, the 
Adopt-a-Family Program, the Regional Office of the Muscular
Dystrophy Association in Washington, MO, Centraide,
Healthpartners-Quebec, Rendez-vous à la rivière, the Canadian
Red Cross, the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada, Fondation

Pinocchios, the Alzheimer Society, Fondation Catherine de
Longpré, the Salvation Army in Mississauga, the Secure the Call
Program and Défi Vélo-boulot. 

Wage Distribution
(in millions of dollars and percentage) 2009 2008 2007

$ % $ % $ %

Beauce 39.4 30.3 44.0 30.6 45.0 31.4
Other regions in Canada 47.8 36.8 51.6 35.8 50.8 35.5
Other countries 42.8 32.9 48.4 33.6 47.3 33.1
TOTAL 130.0 100.0 144.0 100.0 143.1 100.0

Employees per Region As at December 31, 2009

(number and percentage) Men Women Total %
Regions Office Plant Office Plant
Canada
• Beauce 205 364 122 10 701 28.3
• Other regions in Quebec 161 237 99 -- 497 20.1
• Ontario 39 73 18 -- 130 5.3
• Maritime provinces 17 -- 6 -- 23 0.9
• Western provinces 39 79 12 3 133 5.4
Total Canada 461 753 257 13 1,484 60.0

United States
• New England states 24 70 9 1 104 4.2
• Mid-Atlantic states 46 133 24 6 209 8.4
• Midwestern states 22 69 10 1 102 4.1
• Southeastern states 32 75 12 1 120 4.8
• Western states 21 64 7 1 93 3.8
Total United States 145 411 62 10 628 25.3
India 34 -- 26 -- 60 2.4
Romania 156 -- 148 -- 304 12.3
TOTAL 796 1,164 493 23 2,476 100.0

Training activities were prioritized according to needs in the
Company’s key trades in order to promote greater employee
flexibility. Photo: Patrick Lessard, Drafter; France Bergeron,
Shipping Coordinator; Guy Drolet, Project Manager; and 
Anny Verreault, Drafter, at the Quebec City plant.



Project Event/Organizer Award Business 
unit

Stageline Group Prix d’excellence en architecture, -Award of Excellence, Architecture Canam Canada
L’Assomption, QC Ordre des architectes du Québec and Sustainable Development category (Murox)

-Loto-Québec People’s Choice Award
-Synergy Award

Vancouver Convention Design Awards, Steel Joist Institute First place, Non-Industrial category Canam Canada
Centre (BC)
Shepherd University Design Awards, Steel Joist Institute Honorable mention Canam U.S.
Convocation Center
Shepherdstown, WV
The Newseum Best of the Best Awards, First place, Cultural Buildings category Structal-Heavy
Washington, DC Engineering News Record Steel Construction
Brasov Business Park European Steel Design Awards, Steel Design Award, Romania Canam 
Brasov, Romania European Convention for Constructional Steelwork International 
New Yankee Stadium CISC-Quebec Design Awards, Honorable mention, Structal-Heavy
New York, NY Canadian Institute of Steel Construction Projects outside Quebec category Steel Construction
Island Park Bridge CISC-Quebec Design Awards, Winner, Industrial Projects/ Structal-Bridges
Ottawa, ON Canadian Institute of Steel Construction Bridges category
STM Legendre Bus Garage CISC-Quebec Design Awards, Winner, Canam Canada 
Montreal, QC Canadian Institute of Steel Construction Green Buildings category
Lebourgneuf Complex CISC-Quebec Design Awards, Honorable mention, Commercial/ Canam Canada 
Quebec City, QC Canadian Institute of Steel Construction Institutional Projects category
Other Awards
Point of Rocks, Canam U.S. Annual Business Awards, Frederick County Office Creative Business Planning Firm Canam U.S. 

of Economic Development of the Year 
The Canam Community Prix d’excellence, Société québécoise Winner, Interactive and Electronic Canam Group
Facebook project des professionnels en relations publiques Communications category
Murox ventilated Montreal, Quebec City and Jury’s Choice Award Canam Canada
thermal panel Rimouski Building Events, Contech (Murox)
Murox high performance Gala de l’entreprise beauceronne, Technological Innovation Award Canam Canada
building Chambre de commerce de Saint-Georges (Murox)
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Collective Agreements
Plant Number of Expiry date

unionized employees

St. Gédéon de Beauce 
Maintenance and machining 82 August 31, 2009

Point of Rocks 116 March 14, 2010
Calgary 100 May 31, 2010
Quebec City 140 December 31, 2010
Washington 64 February 29, 2012
Boucherville 

Steel deck 21 January 31, 2014
Mississauga 107 June 30, 2014
Boucherville 

Purlins and girts 23 November 30, 2014
St. Gédéon de Beauce 

Production 472 January 31, 2015

Many awards and distinctions are presented both to individuals and companies that stand out from their peers because of their
innovative approach, creativity or efforts to promote sustainable development. Canam Group is proud to have participated in the
following projects and wishes to take this opportunity to congratulate all the employees who contributed to their successful outcome.

Guided by its values, the Company acted to preserve and continue
to develop the competitive advantage of a highly skilled workforce.
Pictured above are Gerhard Flemke, Sales Manager, Western
Canada, Luc Nguyen, Warehouse Worker, and Jennifer Ulazsonek,
Sales Assistant, all of whom work at the Calgary, Alberta plant. 
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“We are proud 
of our 2009 financial
results, which show 

substantial net earnings
despite the economic

downturn.”
Vernon Laboube, Driver
Washington, Missouri
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Years ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts and unless otherwise indicated)
                                                                                                                                   2009                        2008(2)                     2007(2)                     2006(2)   
Operating results
Sales                                                                                                                  $   625,843              $    796,080              $    838,753              $     705,110
Gross margin                                                                                                                19.4%                      22.6%                      22.5%                      24.5%
Adjusted EBITDA(1)                                                                                                   51,827                      93,375                    110,709                     89,726
Adjusted EBITDA                                                                                                             8.3%                       11.7%                      13.2%                      12.7%
Net earnings from continuing operations                                                                 21,515                      48,018                     55,896                     39,732
Net earnings                                                                                                            20,050                      48,431                     47,453                     40,740
Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets                          28,258                     28,032                     23,785                     26,682
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

and amortization of intangible assets                                                                     17,959                      17,674                      16,795                      15,466

Per common share
Net earnings from continuing operations                                                         $         0.48              $          0.99              $           1.14              $          0.86
Net earnings                                                                                                                 0.45                          1.00                         0.97                         0.88
Dividends                                                                                                                      0.16                          0.16                          0.16                          0.16
Carrying value                                                                                                               8.83                         9.06                          7.43                          7.02

Financial position                                                     
Working capital                                                                                                  $   198,355              $     217,572              $    175,058              $    159,359
Total assets                                                                                                             566,053                   658,289                   585,097                    600,192
Net debt(3)                                                                                                                      296                      69,881                      63,661                     88,444
Shareholders’ equity                                                                                               400,597                     413,614                   366,890                   343,360

Operating data
Tons of construction products fabricated                                                               215,496                    313,038                   380,456                    336,819
Number of projects completed                                                                                   7,284                       9,989                      11,523                      15,823
Number of employees                                                                                                2,476                       2,923                       3,050                       2,809
Investment in research and development                                                          $       5,384              $        4,975              $        3,569              $        2,003
Investment in training                                                                                       $        1,126              $        2,000              $        2,020              $        1,720

Trading data
High                                                                                                                   $          7.93              $         14.15              $        15.98              $        11.66
Low                                                                                                                               4.54                         3.73                         9.00                         6.80
Close                                                                                                                              7.13                         6.65                        14.15                         9.26
Number of common shares  

outstanding as at December 31 (in thousands)                                                      45,368                      45,647                     49,366                     49,056
(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a measure that is not in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and

amortization, and other items such as the share in earnings or loss of companies subject to significant influence, and net earnings or net loss from discontinued operations.
See Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the reconciliation of amounts.   

(2) Restated.
(3) Net debt comprises bank loans and the long-term debt, net of cash and cash equivalents.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - HIGHLIGHTS



Scope of Management’s Analysis
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited con-
solidated financial statements included in the 2009 Annual
Report, those published in previous years as well as the interim
MD&As published in fiscal 2009. This MD&A is based on the
Company’s accounting policies that are in compliance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
requires the Company’s financial management to make esti-
mates and judgments that affect the amounts recorded as assets,
liabilities, shareholders’ equity, sales and expenses, as well as
disclosures on contingencies. These assumptions are revised on
a regular basis by the Company based on historical results and
new events. Refer to the section on significant accounting esti-
mates.

Management also invites readers to refer to the notes to
the audited consolidated financial statements presented in this
report. 

The Company’s financial management is responsible for
maintaining appropriate control systems, procedures and 
information systems, thereby ensuring that the information it
discloses is reliable and complete.

The Company applies financial reporting disclosure rules
and takes the necessary actions to comply with new accounting
standards once they come into force. The Company also 
applies the disclosure standards set by the securities regulatory
authorities.

Disclosure controls and procedures
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements is

supported by a set of disclosure controls and procedures imple-
mented by management. During the 2009 fiscal year, the design
and operation of these controls and procedures over the 
operations controlled by the Company were evaluated for their
effectiveness. As at December 31, 2009, this evaluation confirmed
the effectiveness of the design and operation of disclosure 
controls and procedures. The evaluation was performed in
accordance with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) control framework adopted
by the Company and in compliance with guidance from the
Canadian Securities Administrators set out in National
Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual
and Interim Filings (National Instrument 52-109). Therefore,

based on the results of this evaluation, the Company’s manage-
ment can provide reasonable assurance that material informa-
tion relating to the Company is reported to it in a timely manner
so that it can provide investors with complete and reliable 
information.

Internal controls over financial reporting
The Company’s management supervised the documenta-

tion and evaluation of the design of internal controls over 
financial reporting for the Company’s main operational and
accounting processes. As was the case with the evaluation of
disclosure controls and procedures, an evaluation of the design
and operation of internal controls over financial reporting was
conducted under the COSO control framework and in compli-
ance with guidance presented in National Instrument 52-109.
Based on the results of this evaluation, management concluded
that the internal controls over financial reporting are well
designed to provide reasonable assurance that its financial
reporting is reliable and that the Company’s consolidated finan-
cial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP.

Changes to internal controls over financial reporting
The Company’s financial management also carried out

additional work that enabled it to conclude that during the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2009, there have been no changes in
the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, these controls.

Exchange Rates
All amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars unless 

otherwise indicated. The table below indicates the exchange
rates used, i.e. the period-end exchange rate for the balance
sheets and the average exchange rate of the reporting quarter
for the statement of earnings.

The Company’s fiscal year-end is December 31. The interim
financial results published on a quarterly basis reflect the results
to the last Saturday of the reporting period, in keeping with the
realities of the manufacturing industry.
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Exchange rates used
                                                                                         December 31        September 26             June 27                March 28            December 31
                                                                                               2009                      2009                      2009                      2009                       2008

Consolidated                 US$/CAN$                                       1.0571                    1.1035                     1.1758                    1.2440                    1.2060
statements of earnings   Euro/CAN$                                      1.5609                    1.5708                    1.5889                    1.6206                    1.5956
                                      Pesos/CAN$                                    0.0809                    0.0810                    0.0876                   0.0864                    0.0931
Consolidated                  US$/CAN$                                        1.0510                    1.0917                    1.1542                    1.2374                     1.2180
balance sheets                Euro/CAN$                                      1.5046                    1.6015                    1.6239                    1.6456                    1.7046
                                      Pesos/CAN$                                    0.0804                   0.0802                   0.0873                   0.0865                    0.0885

Canam Group Inc.



Significant Events
Common Share Buyback Program
2008–2009 Program

In the first quarter of 2009, the Company repurchased
277,800 common shares at an average price of $7.50 per share
for a total amount of $2.1M, which completed the repurchase
of 4,074,706 common shares at an average price of $6.46 per
share for a total of $26.3M. 

2009–2010 Program

On August 5, 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved a resolution to renew its normal course issuer bid.
The Toronto Stock Exchange accepted the notice of intention
filed by the Company to make a normal course issuer bid.
Common shares can be repurchased during the 12-month
period that began on August 11, 2009 and ending August 10,
2010. At the end of the buyback program, the Company may
repurchase up to 3,632,509 outstanding common shares, rep-
resenting approximately 10% of publicly-held common shares.
The acquired common shares will be cancelled. No common
shares were repurchased as at December 31, 2009. 

Sale of the 35% interest in Canam Russia Limited
On June 10, 2009, the majority shareholder of Canam

Russia Limited purchased the 35% interest held by Steel Plus
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. A gain on
disposal of investments of $0.2M was recorded following this
transaction. 

Sale of the 35% interest in 
Canam Romsa de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 

On June 15, 2009, the Company sold its 35% interest in the
share capital of Canam Romsa de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., in Mexico
(Romsa) to Pysei Estructuras, S.A. de C.V. (Pysei) for a consider-
ation of 30 Mexican pesos, which generated a net loss of $0.1M.
Pysei’s ownership interest in Romsa has therefore increased
from 65% to 100%. Since Romsa was considered a variable
interest entity of which the Company was the primary benefi-
ciary, the Company had to consolidate Romsa’s accounts. 

This transaction was followed by the purchase, on June 26,
2009, of Romsa’s land, building and production equipment
(Monterrey plant) by Canam de Juárez, S.A. de C.V. (Juárez)
(wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), in consideration of
the assumption by Juárez of accounts payable owed to the
Company by Romsa. Since that date, Juárez has leased the
Monterrey plant to Romsa for a monthly rental expense of 
0.4M Mexican pesos. The rent payment is secured by Romsa’s
accounts receivable and inventories. The Company has
accounted for Romsa as a discontinued operation, and the
financial statements of prior periods have been restated accord-
ingly. 

Sale of the 25% interest in JD2, Inc.
On October 30, 2009, the Company sold its interest in the

share capital of JD2, Inc., a structural steel broker, for a consid-
eration of US$3.6M. An amount of US$2.3M was cashed on
November 30, 2009. The balance of US$1.3M bears interest at
5% and is repayable as of February 1, 2010 in 20 quarterly 
payments of US$65,000 plus interest. A gain on disposal of
investment of US$0.1M was recorded following this transaction.

Acquisition of a 15% interest in FabSouth LLC and a 16.67%
interest in FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC (collectively referred
to as FabSouth)

On December 21, 2009, the Company acquired a 15%
interest in FabSouth LLC and in FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC.
FabSouth is one of the most important fabricators and erectors
of structural steel products in the U.S. and it operates six plants
in Florida, North Carolina and Georgia. This transaction was
concluded with a company controlled by the Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company for a consid-
eration of US$11.25M, plus or less, as applicable, an amount
equal to 15% of the difference between the working capital value
and US$20M, which value is determined based on FabSouth’s
audited financial statements as at December 31, 2009. 

On December 31, 2009, the Company acquired an 
additional 1.67% interest in FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC for a
consideration of US$0.1M.

The independent directors of the Company’s Board of Direc -
tors reviewed and approved the terms and conditions of the
transaction, concluding that it was conducted at fair value. 

Dividends on common shares
On October 27, 2009, the Board of Directors approved the

payment of a quarterly dividend of $0.04 per common share to
shareholders of record on December 17, 2009. The amount thus
paid on December 31, 2009 was $1.8M and has been applied
against retained earnings. The dividends paid in 2009 total
$7.3M ($7.7M in 2008).

Operating Results 
Non-GAAP measure

In this MD&A, the Company’s financial management uses
a measure that is not in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted earn-
ings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (Adjusted
EBITDA) is not defined by GAAP and cannot be formally pre-
sented in financial statements. Nevertheless, management wishes
to specify that Adjusted EBITDA corresponds to amounts
appearing on the line in the statements of earnings above the
item “Depreciation of property, plant and equipment”. The 
definition of Adjusted EBITDA does not take into account the
Company’s share in loss of companies subject to significant
influence and the net earnings or net loss from discontinued
operations. The reader can establish the link between Adjusted
EBITDA and net earnings. The definition of Adjusted EBITDA
used by the Company may differ from that used by other 
companies.

Even though EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure, it is used by
managers, analysts, investors and other financial stakeholders to
assess the Company’s performance and management from a
financial and operational standpoint.

25Canam Group Inc.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and net earnings
Years ended December 31
                                                                               2009                2008
(in thousands of dollars)                                                            (restated)

Net earnings                                                   $    20,050       $     48,431
Net loss (net earnings) 

from discontinued operations                            1,465                 (413) 
Net earnings from continuing operations            21,515              48,018
PLUS:
Share in loss of companies 

subject to significant influence                               701                    93
Income tax expense                                               7,140              21,913
Financial expenses                                                  4,512               5,677
Total depreciation and amortization                    17,959              17,674
Adjusted EBITDA                                            $    51,827       $    93,375

Fourth quarter of 2009
Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2009 totaled $5M

compared to $13.7M in 2008. Net earnings per common share
stood at $0.11 per basic share in the fourth quarter of 2009,
based on a weighted average number of 45,047,428 common
shares, as compared to $0.29 per basic share during the same
quarter of 2008, based on a weighted average number of
46,536,775 common shares. 

Net earnings from continuing operations amounted to 
$5M or $0.11 per basic share in the fourth quarter of 2009, as
compared with $14.4M or $0.31 per basic share for the same
quarter in 2008.

Consolidated sales for the fourth quarter of 2009 totaled
$149.7M, which represents an $81.2M or a 35.2% decrease as
compared with sales of $230.9M for the same quarter in 2008.
The decrease in sales is primarily attributable to the Canam U.S.
and Canam Canada business units (joists and steel deck), which
are impacted by the economic slowdown in non-residential 
construction. Reference should also be made to the subsection
entitled “Commercial context and economic conditions” found in
the section entitled “Risks and Uncertainties”, which is presented
in this MD&A.

The gross margin was 19% of sales in the fourth quarter
of 2009 as compared with 24.8% for the corresponding quarter
in 2008. The decrease in the gross margin is attributable to a
decline in sales and an increased competition resulting from the
economic slowdown and to a change in the sales mix.

Still in the fourth quarter, selling and administrative
expenses represented 13% of sales in 2009 or $19.5M, compared
to 9.6% of sales in 2008, or $22.1M. 

Expenses related to profit sharing and continuous improve-
ment programs totaled $1.1M in the fourth quarter of 2009 as
compared with $3.8M for the same quarter in 2008. The
decrease in expenses related to profit sharing and continuous
improvement programs is attributable to the decrease in pre-tax
earnings in 2009 as compared with 2008. 

Following the 2004 abolition of the stock option plan, the
Company introduced, in 2005, a stock ownership component in
its profit sharing program for executive officers. The profit
sharing program is based on a formula that uses a percentage
of pre-tax earnings, after deducting a 10% return on share-
holders’ equity. 

The amount thus calculated is paid out partly in cash and
partly in common shares. If the total amount of bonuses paid
to an employee exceeds $20,000, the Company deposits 30% of
the total bonus in a trust set up by the Company. The trust then
uses this amount to acquire common shares of the Company
on the secondary market. The vesting period is three years. To
be entitled to receive shares, the employee must be employed
by the Company on the date on which the shares are distributed
by the trust. 

The profit sharing program that applies to other employees
is based on a formula equal to 6.25% of pre-tax earnings. 

In the last quarter of 2009, the Company recorded an
exchange gain of $1.2M compared to an exchange loss of $1.7M
in 2008. The exchange gain is mainly attributable to the realized
gains on forward currency forward contracts, the translation 
of accounts payable denominated in US dollars and the
Canadian dollar’s rise against the US dollar, which fell from
1.0917 CA$/US$ as at September 26, 2009 to 1.0510 CA$/US$ as
at December 31, 2009. It is also attributable to the gain resulting
from the sale of foreign currency forward contracts. In 2008, 
the exchange loss was mainly attributable to the sale of foreign
currency forward contracts.

The Company’s Adjusted EBITDA in the fourth quarter of
2009 amounted to $9.4M or 6.3% of sales, as compared with
an Adjusted EBITDA of $29.7M or 12.8% of sales for the same
quarter of 2008.

For the fourth quarter of 2009, depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, and amortization of intangible assets
totaled $4.7M, which represents a $0.3M decrease as compared
with 2008, when depreciation and amortization stood at $5M.

Financial expenses totaled $1.2M in the fourth quarter of
2009 compared to $1.3M in 2008. 

The income tax recovery was 39.4% in the fourth quarter
of 2009 compared to an income tax expense of 33.7% in the
fourth quarter of 2008. The decrease is mainly attributable to:
i) the pre-tax loss incurred in the fourth quarter of 2009 by the
U.S. subsidiary for which the statutory tax rate (40.4%) is higher
than in Canada, where the statutory tax rate is 30.6%; and ii)
the difference between the estimated tax rate in Canada in fiscal
2009 (32.5%) and the effective tax rate (30.6%) in view of per-
manent differences and other elements that were not realized. 

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company recorded a
share in earnings of companies subject to significant influence
of $0.1M compared to a loss of $1.1 in the fourth quarter of
2008 that was mainly attributable to Canam Asia ($0.6M).
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Results for fiscal year 2009
For 2009, net earnings stood at $20.1M, or $0.45 per basic

share, based on a weighted average number of 45,056,808
common shares, as compared with net earnings of $48.4M, or
$1.00 per basic share, based on a weighted average number 
of 48,486,407 common shares for the previous fiscal year.

Net earnings from continuing operations stood at $21.5M,
or $0.48 per basic share, for 2009 as compared with net earnings
from continuing operations of $48M, or $0.99 per basic share,
in 2008.

In 2009, consolidated sales totaled $625.8M as compared
with $796.1M in 2008, thus representing a decrease of $170.2M
or 21.4%. The decrease in sales is primarily attributable to 
the Canam U.S. and Canam Canada business units (joists and
steel deck), which are impacted by the economic slowdown 
in non-residential construction, and by the decrease in steel
prices in 2009 as compared with 2008. Reference should also
be made to the subsection entitled “Commercial context and
economic conditions” found in the section entitled “Risks and
Uncertainties”, which is presented in this MD&A.

The gross profit margin for 2009 represents 19.4% of sales
as compared with 22.6% of sales in 2008. The decrease in the
gross margin is attributable to the same reasons mentioned
above.

Selling and administrative expenses in 2009 totaled $71.5M
or 11.4% of sales as compared with $79.2M or 9.9% of sales in
2008. 

Expenses related to profit sharing and continuous improve-
ment programs for executives and employees decreased from
$9M in 2008 to $2.9M in 2009. The decline is attributable to the
decrease in pre-tax earnings in 2009 compared to 2008.

The Company recorded an exchange gain of $2.5M in 2009
compared to an exchange loss of $0.1M in 2008. The exchange
gain is mainly attributable to the translation of accounts payable
denominated in US dollars, resulting from the Canadian dollar’ rise
against the US dollar, from 1.2180 CA$/US$ as at December 31,
2008 to 1.0510 CA$/US$ as at December 31, 2009. It is also 
attributable to the gain resulting from the sale of foreign currency
forward contracts. 

Interest income stood at $2.4M in fiscal 2009 as compared
with $0.7M in 2008. The increase is attributable to the 
note receivable from Placements CMI Inc., the balance of which
totaled $20M as at December 31, 2009 ($25M as at December 31,
2008). The note receivable from Placements CMI Inc. is secured
by a moveable hypothec that bears interest at an annual rate of
5.81%. Placements CMI Inc. made all the payments pursuant to
the specified terms ($625,000 plus interest at the end of each
quarter in 2009) and also reimbursed an additional amount of
$2.5M on December 22, 2009. During fiscal 2010, Placements
CMI Inc. will reimburse $4M plus interest. Beginning in 2011,
quarterly payments will be in the amount of $500,000 plus
interest. The note receivable matures on December 31, 2018.

The $1.8M increase in the redemption value of an 
investment in a related company in fiscal 2008 represented the
growth of the redemption value of preferred shares of Finloc
Inc. at an annual rate of 3.77%. On December 22, 2008, the
Company sold all the preferred shares it held in Finloc Inc. to
Placements CMI Inc.

Placements CMI Inc. is indirectly controlled by the Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 

The Company’s Adjusted EBITDA for 2009 amounted to
$51.8M or 8.3% of sales, as compared with $93.4M or 11.7% of
sales in 2008.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and amor-
tization of intangible assets amounted to $18M in 2009, 
representing a $0.3M increase in comparison with 2008, when
depreciation and amortization stood at $17.7M.

Financial expenses went down from $5.7M in 2008 to
$4.5M in 2009. This $1.2M decline is mainly attributable to the
decrease in the Company’s bank loans and long-term debt.

For 2009, the effective tax rate was 24.3% as compared with
31.3% in 2008. This decrease in the effective tax rate in 2009 is
attributable to: i) the pre-tax loss incurred in 2009 by the U.S.
subsidiary for which the effective tax rate (40.4%) is higher than
in Canada, where the effective tax rate is 30.6%; and ii) the dif-
ference between the estimated tax rate in Canada in fiscal 2009
(32.5%) and the effective tax rate (30.6%) in view of permanent
differences and other elements that were not realized. 

The Company’s $0.7M share in the loss incurred by com-
panies subject to significant influence in 2009 compared to a
$0.1M share in loss in 2008 is mainly attributable to the net loss
of $0.8M incurred by JD2, Inc. This interest was sold on October
30, 2009. Refer to the section on significant events.

Balance Sheets
Working capital decreased from $217.6M as at December 31,

2008 (current ratio of 2.38) to $198.4M as at December 31, 2009
(current ratio of 3.32).

The net debt, whose balance stood at $0.3M as at
December 31, 2009, decreased by $69.6M compared with
December 31, 2008, when it totaled $69.9M. The decrease is
mainly attributable to a reduction in inventories and accounts
receivable, net of the decrease in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities. Shareholders’ equity stood at $400.6M as at
December 31, 2009, compared with $413.6M as at December 31,
2008. The US dollar’s depreciation against the Canadian dollar
generated an unrealized exchange loss of $24M resulting from
the translation of financial statements of self-sustaining foreign
operations, mainly those of the U.S. subsidiary. This amount has
been applied against net earnings in comprehensive income
(loss). 

The net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio was 0.01 at the end
of 2009 compared to 0.75 at the end of 2008. 
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As at December 31, 2009, the net debt to shareholders’
equity ratio was 0, whereas it was 0.17 as at December 31, 2008.

Financial information
Years ended December 31
                                                                               2009                2008
(in thousands of dollars except for ratios)                                 (restated)

Working capital                                              $  198,355       $   217,572
Current ratio                                                            3.32                 2.38
Net debt(1)                                                      $         296       $     69,881
Adjusted EBITDA                                           $    51,827       $    93,375
Shareholders’ equity                                       $  400,597       $    413,614
Net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio                         0.01                 0.75
Net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio                       - -                  0.17
Cash flows from continuing operating 

activities                                                      $ 113,836       $    35,844
Cash flows from continuing operating 

activities less additions to property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets        $   85,578       $       7,812

(1) Net debt comprises bank loans and the long-term debt, net of cash and cash
equivalents.

As at December 31, 2009, trade accounts receivable stood
at $99.4M compared with $154.5M as at December 31, 2008. The
$55.1M decline is attributable to the decrease in sales in the
fourth quarter of 2009. 

Inventories decreased by $72.3M to $104.5M as at
December 31, 2009, compared with $176.9M as at December 31,
2008. The decline is explained by the decrease in sales and is
translated into a $49.5M reduction in raw materials inventories
and a $22.8M decrease in custom-made finished goods inven-
tories. 

The decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets, the 
balance of which stood at $3.5M as at December 31, 2009 com-
pared with $6.5M as at December 31, 2008, is attributable to the
purchase of shares by a trust in employees’ name on the sec-
ondary market under the profit sharing program in fiscal 2008.
As at December 31, 2008, the Company had recorded deferred
expenses in the amount of $1.7M. 

The reduction in assets and liabilities of discontinued oper-
ations mainly results from the sale, on June 15, 2009, of the 35%
interest in the share capital of Canam Romsa S.A. de C.V., in
Mexico. Since Romsa was considered a variable interest entity
of which the Company was the primary beneficiary, the
Company had to consolidate Romsa’s accounts. Consequently,
the Company had to restate Romsa’s financial statements to rec-
ognize the latter as a discontinued operation. 

The increase in investments from $48.4M as at December 31,
2008 to $63.5M as at December 31, 2009 is mainly attributable to
the $4M investment in Aviation CMP Inc. and the acquisition of an
interest in FabSouth LLC for a consideration of $12M (US$11.3M).
Refer to the section entitled “Significant Events” that is presented in
this MD&A.

Long-term receivables and other assets decreased from $30.2M
as at December 31, 2008 to $21.6M as at December 31, 2009. The
decrease is mainly attributable to the repayment of $5M on the note
receivable of $25M from Placements CMI Inc., the balance of which
totaled $20M as at December 31, 2009. The note receivable results
from the sale, on December 22, 2008, of preferred shares that the
Company held in Finloc Inc., as described above. 

The $49.1M decrease in accounts payable and accrued lia-
bilities, which brings the balance to $77.1M as at December 31,
2009 compared to $126.2M as at December 31, 2008, is 
attributable to the drop in raw materials inventories and the con-
version rate of suppliers denominated in US dollars, which was
1.0510 as at December 31, 2009 compared to 1.2180 as at
December 31, 2008.

In 2009, shareholders’ equity decreased by $13M to
$400.6M ($413.6M as at December 31, 2008). In addition to the
net earnings totaling $20.1M recorded in fiscal 2009, the fol-
lowing elements had an impact on shareholders’ equity: i) the
payment of $7.3M in dividends; and ii) the US dollar’s depreci-
ation generated an unrealized exchange loss of $24M resulting
from the translation of financial statements of self-sustaining
foreign operations, mainly those of the U.S. subsidiary. 

Cash Position 
For fiscal 2009, cash flows from continuing operating activ-

ities stood at $113.8M, as compared with $35.8M in 2008. 
The increase is mainly due to the decrease in inventories and
accounts receivable, net of the decrease in accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, between December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2009.

Cash flows used in financing activities stood at $25.9M in
2009 ($19.7M in 2008). The decline is primarily attributable to
the decrease in long-term debt and bank loans.

Cash flows used in investing activities amounted to $39.6M
in 2009 as compared with $17.5M in 2008. The decrease in 2009
is attributable to the acquisition of investments.

Cash flows
A comparison of the Company’s cash flows for fiscal 2009

and 2008 is presented below.

                                                                               2009                2008
(in thousands of dollars)                                                            (restated)

Cash flows from continuing 
operating activities                                       $  113,836       $    35,844

Cash flows from continuing 
financing activities                                           (25,870)            (19,710)

Cash flows from continuing investing  
activities                                                           (39,576)            (17,459)

Effect of changes in foreign exchange 
rate on cash                                                         (143)              3,598

Net change                                                          48,247               2,273
Net cash flows from discontinued 

operations                                                          3,527               2,798
Cash - beginning of year                                    15,619             10,548
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year     $    67,393       $     15,619
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Contractual Obligations
In the normal course of business, the Company has the

contractual obligations presented in the table below.

Instalments required by period
As at December 31, 2009
(in thousands of dollars)             Long-term debt      Operating leases

Within a year                                    $    5,477                 $   4,370
From 2 to 3 years                                18,372                      5,527
From 4 to 5 years                                10,855                       2,616
More than 5 years                              32,985                      8,010
                                                        $  67,689                 $ 20,523

In addition, the Company contracted letters of credit for
occupational health and safety insurance in the United States
($1.9M) and has acted as a guarantor for a related company
($4.2M) as well as for commitments related to forestry 
equipment leasing contracts ($0.5M). The balance of these 
commitments is $6.6.M as at December 31, 2009, which repre-
sents a $2.4M increase as compared to December 31, 2008 when
commitments totaled $4.2M.

Subsequent Events
Increased interest in Amcan-Jumax Inc.

On January 28, 2010, the Company increased from 37.5%
to 50% its interest in the share capital of Amcan-Jumax Inc., a
structural nuts and bolts distributor for the construction market.
Amcan-Jumax Inc. was considered an entity subject to significant
influence, and following this transaction, this interest will be
recorded as a joint venture and accounted for using the pro-
portionate consolidation method. 

Dividends
On February 23, 2010, the Board of Directors approved the

payment of a quarterly dividend of $0.04 per common share
that will be paid on March 31, 2010 to shareholders of record
on March 17, 2010.

Increased interest in FabSouth LLC 
and FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC

On February 23, 2010, the Company signed a final agree-
ment to increase its interest in FabSouth LLC and FS Real Estate
Holdings, LLC by 65% and 63.33%, respectively, for a total con-
sideration of US$65M. Following this acquisition, the Company’s
interest in FabSouth LLC and FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC would
be 80%, respectively. This transaction is conditional upon the
approval of U.S. regulatory authorities. Once the approval is
obtained, an amount of US$60M would be paid, and an amount
of US$5M would be withheld as a provision for adjustments, of
which US$2.5M would be payable on September 1, 2010, and
US$2.5M would be payable on December 1, 2010.  

As part of this transaction, the Company has also agreed
to purchase the balance of the membership interest in
FabSouth LLC and FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC, i.e. 20% in each
of these companies, over a three-year period for a consideration
ranging from US$15M to US$25M, based on the EBITDA of
fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012.

Related Party Transactions
In the normal course of business, the Company sells prod-

ucts to and purchases products from certain related businesses.
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements provides the
details of the values exchanged. In 2009, sales to related com-
panies represented $7.1M of the Company’s consolidated sales,
as compared with $11.8M in 2008. The Company’s purchases
from related companies accounted for $11.3M of the Company’s
cost of sales, as compared with $7.8M in 2008. Selling and
administrative expenses from related party transactions totaled
$5.4M in 2009 compared to $6M in 2008. 

The reader may also refer to the section entitled “Significant
Events - Acquisition of a 15% interest in FabSouth LLC and a
16.67% interest in FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC”.

Changes in Accounting Policies
On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted Section 3064,

“Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, of the Canadian Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook. This section 
establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and dis-
closure applicable to intangible assets. It replaces Section 3062,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, and Section 3450,
“Research and Development Costs”.

The adoption of this section had no impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations. 

On January 20, 2009, the Company adopted Emerging
Issues Committee (EIC) Abstract 173, “Credit Risk and the Fair
Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”, which applies
without restatement of prior periods to all financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in interim and annual financial
statements. Under EIC-173, the Company must take both its own
credit risk and the counterparty credit risk into account when
determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities,
including derivatives. 

The adoption of EIC-173 had no impact on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations. 

Future Accounting Changes
On February 13, 2008, the Accounting Standards Board

confirmed the date of changeover from Canadian GAAP to
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Canadian
publicly accountable enterprises must adopt IFRS for their
interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

The Company has developed a plan for the conversion of
its consolidated financial statements to IFRS. An analysis of the
differences between IFRS and the Company’s accounting stan-
dards was conducted. The analysis considered the potential
impacts, among others, on accounting policies, financial
reporting and computer information systems. Accounting
changes are expected, and these should have an impact on the
Company’s financial statements. An evaluation of such impact is
currently underway. 
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The anticipated impact on accounting policies is summa-
rized as follows:

a)     Adoption of the straight-line method for buildings, produc-
tion equipment and automotive equipment;

-  Presently, in accordance with Canadian GAAP, these
property, plant and equipment items are depreciated
using the declining balance method;

b)     Actuarial gains and losses related to defined benefit pension
plans will be recognized in comprehensive income (loss)
during the period in which they arise. The consolidated 
balance sheet will show the present value of the deficit (lia-
bilities) or surplus (assets) of pension plans;

-  Presently, actuarial gains and losses are amortized
against earnings over the estimated average remaining
service period of active employees;

c)     Recognition of the joint venture using the equity method;

-  Presently, the joint venture is accounted for using the
proportionate consolidation method.

Under IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards”, an entity may elect that the translation dif-
ferences for all foreign operations be deemed to be zero at the
date of transition and that they be applied against retained 
earnings. The Company plans to use this election.

In addition, modifications were made to the Company’s
information technology systems to support the expected
changes following the application of IFRS. The Company has
established its strategy and its implementation plan regarding
the timetable for the parallel financial reporting.

Finally, consolidated financial statements including the dis-
closure required by IFRS are currently being prepared. 

The IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) will
continue to publish new accounting standards during the tran-
sition period. Consequently, the definite impact of IFRS on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements will only be
assessed when all IFRS applicable on the transition date are
known.

The CICA published the following sections of the CICA
Handbook that apply to interim and annual financial statements
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.
Early adoption of these sections is permitted as of the beginning
of fiscal 2010.

a)     Section 1582, “Business Combinations”, which replaces the
former Section 1581 with the same title, establishes
accounting standards for a business combination. It pro-
vides the Canadian equivalent to International Financial
Reporting Standard IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”.

b)    Section 1601, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, which
replaces the former Section 1600 with the same title, 
establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements. 

c)  Section 1602, “Non-Controlling Interests”. This new section
establishes standards on accounting for non-controlling
interests in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements
prepared subsequent to a business combination. It is equiv-

alent to the corresponding provisions of International
Accounting Standard IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements”. 
The Company is presently evaluating the impact of these

new standards on its financial statements. 

Significant Accounting Estimates
Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenues from erection contracts
using the percentage-of-completion accounting method, based
on erection costs incurred as compared to projected costs.
Estimated losses on contracts are immediately recognized.
Revenue estimates are based on management assumptions sup-
ported by historical experience. There can be no assurance that
these estimates will not vary from the actual results. Revenues
from the sale of construction products are recognized when the
products have been delivered, and in certain cases, upon storage
when all the criteria under Emerging Issues Committee Abstract
141 (EIC-141), “Revenue Recognition”, have been met. 

Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets are assessed for impairment when events

or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value
may not be recoverable. When the carrying value of an asset is
higher than the undiscounted future net cash flows directly 
generated by the asset’s use and eventual sale, an impairment
loss is recognized in earnings. The amount of the impairment
loss represents the difference between the carrying value and
the discounted value of future net cash flows. The use of dif-
ferent assumptions could result in different fair values and, as a
consequence, different carrying values for long-lived assets. 

Employee future benefits
The Company offers defined benefit plans. The cost of pen-

sion benefits and other retirement benefits earned by partici-
pants is actuarially determined using the projected benefit
method prorated on service. This method applies management’s
best estimate regarding the expected long-term rate of return
on plan assets, salary escalation and the retirement age of par-
ticipants. The use of different assumptions could result in 
different carrying values for accrued benefit assets and thus
affect the expense for defined benefit plans. 

Contingencies
The Company is a defendant in a number of lawsuits, claims

and litigations in the normal course of its operations. These 
lawsuits, claims and litigations represent a risk of loss for the
Company. A provision is established to cover professional and
compensation fees, where applicable. The estimation of this pro-
vision is based on internal investigations and consultations with
independent experts and legal advisors. Actual amounts could
differ from those estimates. 

Income taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset

and liability method. Under this method, future income tax
assets and liabilities are recognized based on deductible or tax-
able temporary timing differences between the carrying amounts
and tax bases of the assets and liabilities. Future income tax
assets and liabilities are measured using substantively enacted
and enacted tax rates expected to apply in the years in which
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the timing differences are expected to reverse. The Company
establishes a valuation allowance against future income tax
assets if, based on available information, it is more likely than
not that some or all of the future income tax assets will not be
realized. If the estimates and assumptions are modified in the
future, the Company may be required to reduce or increase the
value of future income tax assets resulting in, where applicable,
an income tax expense or recovery. The Company regularly 
evaluates future income tax assets and liabilities.

Risks and Uncertainties
The Company is confident in its long-term future prospects.

However, we have indicated below the risks and uncertainties
that could have an effect on the Company.

Commercial context and economic conditions 
The Company operates mainly in the non-residential con-

struction market. 

Non-residential construction includes the commercial
(stores, shopping centers, offices, hotels/motels, warehouses),
industrial (fabrication plants) and institutional (schools, hospitals,
buildings: public, religious, recreational, entertainment and trans-
portation-related) sectors. The Company also operates in the
infrastructures sector through its Structal-Bridges business unit. 

Activity in the non-residential construction market is closely
tied to overall changes in the economy. Economic growth and
cycles have a direct impact on the amount of construction that
takes place on an annual basis. 

2009 was characterized by the worst economic recession
since the Great Depression of 1929. In the United States, the
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) decreased by 2.4%, a decline that
had not been seen since 1946, even despite the 5.7% growth
posted in the fourth quarter of 2009. In Canada, the GDP also
decreased by 2.4% in 2009 while central bank rates were at his-
toric lows, i.e. 0.25%.

In this context of economic recession, non-residential 
construction pursued the downward trend that began in 2008.
Non-residential construction in the commercial sector decreased
by over 32% in the United States (Value Put-in-Place, U.S. Census
Bureau) and 16% in Canada (Building Permits, Statistics Canada)
as compared to 2008.

Demand for the different products fabricated by the Com -
pany closely trails growth in the North American non-residential
construction market. In 2009, sales of products destined for the
non-residential construction market decreased by 9% in Canada
and over 50% (in US dollars) in the United States as compared
to 2008.

Competition
Price is one of the primary factors considered in determining

which qualified contractor or supplier is awarded a contract. In
certain market sectors, the Company competes with integrated
companies as well as competitors that wish to increase their
market share. Depending on the market, the Company may com-
pete with local, regional, national and international corporations. 

Operating risks
Design and fabrication involve a high degree of operating

risks. Human error in design and fabrication can cause material

damage or physical injury. The occurrence of any of these events
could result in loss of revenue, increased costs and liability to third
parties. The Company uses software that has improved the design,
drafting, estimation and fabrication of its products to minimize
human error. The Company also controls production quality in
its plants and is protected by a general insurance coverage.

Steel supplies 
Steel is the main raw material used by the Company in the

fabrication of its steel components. Any interruption or signifi-
cant fluctuation in steel prices when procuring supplies could
impact the Company’s activities. The Company has been able to
manage such particular market conditions in the past through,
among other things, a worldwide diversification of its steel 
supplies.

Dependence on key personnel
The Company depends on the skills and experience of its

executive officers and other key employees. While the Company
is certain that these individuals’ remuneration and working con-
ditions are competitive and that the retention rate is high, there
is no guarantee they will remain in the Company’s employ.

Fixed-price contracts 
Joists and steel deck are mainly sold to structural steel fab-

ricators and general contractors. All work is fabricated according
to customer specifications. All sales contracts are fixed-price
contracts and normally result from the Company’s competitive
bid on a project compared to those of other suppliers. When
bidding on a project, the Company estimates its costs, including
projected increases in the costs of labor, materials and services.
Despite these estimates, actual costs on a fixed-price contract
could vary from the estimated amounts because of unforeseen
circumstances or other consequential factors during the 
contract’s execution. These variations could adversely affect the
Company’s business. When the situation allows for it, the Com -
pany inserts price escalation clauses in its bids or sales contracts
in order to reduce the impact of steel price increases.

Foreign investment risk
The Company has minority interests in foreign companies.

There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to recover
the totality of these investments. However, the Company has
political risk insurance coverage.

Regulatory matters
The Company is subject to federal, provincial and local laws,

as well as international trade agreements that govern the
Company’s operations, including environmental laws and regu-
lations. Operations in the manufacturing plants involve risks of
environmental liability. However, in management’s opinion, these
activities present little risk to the environment. The Company’s
main activity is the transformation of steel through cutting,
bending and welding. The raw material used, steel, presents little
risk to the environment and is easily recycled. Finished goods
are generally coated with a finish. The operations that could have
potential repercussions on the environment are welding, which
produces smoke (emitted in the form of atmospheric particles),
and painting, which releases volatile organic compounds 
(VOC) and generates hazardous residual materials. All of the
Company’s plants hold the environmental authorizations or per-
mits required to conduct their activities. 
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In management’s view, the Company complies, in all mate-
rial respects, with all laws and regulations which are applicable
to it. However, the Company cannot determine the extent to
which it could be affected by new laws, new regulations or
changes in the interpretation of current regulations or by the
loss or revocation of any license, authorization or permit.

Imposition of trade tariffs or commercial restrictions
There can be no assurance that the steel products manu-

factured by the Company will not be subject to trade tariffs in
the countries to which they are exported or that the laws of
these countries prohibit the sale of these products or set con-
ditions whereby the Company will have to choose the place of
fabrication accordingly. 

Financial Instruments
Liquidity risk

The Company requires significant amounts of working cap-
ital in order to be able to operate. The Company’s contracts are
primarily based on firm prices. For the majority of sales, billing
is performed when the products are delivered. For erection con-
tracts, billing is performed on a monthly basis according to the
progress of the work. When modifications or additions are
required by clients during the course of a project, the Company
will incur additional costs, and the associated earnings will only
be recognized once they have been accepted by the client. To
the extent that the Company is unable to receive payments in
the early stages of a project, its cash flows could be reduced.

The Company has a conservative approach with regard to
the management of its liquid assets. It makes use of short and
long-term financing at several financial institutions and matches
operating and investing activities with financing activities.

In Canada, the Company set up the following credit facili-
ties:

a)     Revolving credit of $80M with a banking syndicate, unused
as at December 31, 2009 and 2008, maturing in October
2011. The Company must meet certain financial covenants. 

b)    Non-revolving credit of $41.9M as at December 31, 2009
($44.6M as at December 31, 2008), maturing in November
2016 and amortized over a 14-year period. 

c)     Non-revolving credit of $12.6M as at December 31, 2009
($14.1M as at December 31, 2008), maturing in June 2018. 

In the United States, the Company set up the following
credit facilities through its subsidiary:

a)     Revolving credit of US$50M, of which the balance is unused
as at December 31, 2009 (US$8.5M as at December 31,
2008), maturing in October 2012. The Company must meet
certain financial covenants.

b)    Non-revolving credit of US$8.6M as at December 31, 2009
(US$9.2M as at December 31, 2008), maturing in October
2012 and amortized over a 15-year period. The Company
must meet certain financial covenants.

c)     Industrial development bond of US$3.7M as at December 31,
2009 (US$4M as at December 31, 2008), maturing in 2030.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s policy is to limit its exposure to interest rate
risk fluctuations by ensuring that a reasonable portion of 
its bank loans and long-term debt are at fixed rates. As at
December 31, 2009, 80% of the bank loan and long-term debt
were at fixed rates (69% as at December 31, 2008), i.e. $54.5M
($58.7M as at December 31, 2008) on a total debt of $67.7M
($85.5M as at December 31, 2008). The fixed weighted average
interest rate for long-term debt was 5.81% as at December 31,
2009 and 2008 for an average weighted period of 7.22 years
(8.23 years as at December 31, 2008). Management does not
believe that the impact of interest rate fluctuations will be signifi-
cant on operating results.

A variation in interest rates could, however, have an impact
on the Company’s cost of capital and thereby reduce net
earnings.

Credit risk
The Company takes on exposure to credit risks that are

mainly associated with its accounts receivable, which is the risk
that a client will be unable to pay amounts in full when due.
The Company considers credit risk to be limited for the following
reasons:

a)     The Company conducts an ongoing evaluation of its clients
and has adopted a credit policy that defines the evaluation
criteria. The established procedures ensure that the
Company benefits from maximum protection through guar-
antees available in the North American construction
industry.

b)    The Company sells to a wide range of clients that operate
in various sectors and geographical regions. 

c)     The Company establishes provisions for doubtful accounts
while keeping in mind the specific credit risk of clients, their
historical tendencies and the economic situation. 

Currency risk
The Company is exposed to the two following types of cur-

rency risk:

a)     Translation of foreign currency transactions 

       The Company is mainly exposed to currency risk on sales
of Canadian-made products in US dollars. The Company
considers this currency risk to be limited for the following
reasons:

       i) the Company enters into foreign currency forward
contracts for the sale of US dollars according to antic-
ipated net cash flows;

       ii) the Company’s presence on North American markets
as well as its fabrication and delivery capabilities allow
it to select the most appropriate fabrication location
according to price, cost, and foreign currency fluctua-
tions;
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       iii) for raw materials purchases, particularly steel, prices
are usually denominated in US dollars, and the
Company maximizes its purchases from the United
States and international sources through payment in
US dollars.

b)     Translation of financial statements of self-sustaining foreign
operations

       The translation of financial statements of self-sustaining
foreign operations generates an exchange loss or gain 
that is recorded under shareholders’ equity in the item
“Accumulated other comprehensive loss”. As at December 31,
2009, the unrealized foreign currency translation losses
totals $26.8M compared to December 31, 2008, when the
Company recorded an unrealized exchange loss of $2.8M.
Unrealized exchange gains and losses result mainly from
the translation of the U.S. subsidiary’s financial statements. 

Outlook
The backlog of orders stood at $460M as at December 31,

2009, including $277M of fabricated products, compared to
$444M as at December 31, 2008, which included $313M of 
fabricated products.

Other Items
As at February 23, 2010, there were 45,368,079 common

shares and 520,900 stock options outstanding.

The Company’s common shares are identified on the
Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under ticker symbol “CAM”.

The financial analysis, audited financial statements and
additional information, including the Annual Information Form,
are available on the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com) and the
Company’s website (www.canamgroup.ws).

Marcel Dutil, C.M.
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer

Charles Pinel, CA
Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

February 23, 2010
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Quarterly Results
(unaudited quarterly results - in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

2009 Quarters ended                                              March 28(2)                                   June 27                     Sept. 26                     Dec. 31                         Total

Sales                                                                            $ 180,204                 $  151,239                  $ 144,722                 $  149,678                 $ 625,843
Net earnings from continuing operations                          6,893                         5,186                        4,430                        5,006                      21,515
Net earnings                                                                      5,373                        5,226                        4,428                        5,023                     20,050
Basic net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.15                           0.12                           0.10                           0.11                          0.48
Basic net earnings per share                                                 0.12                           0.12                           0.10                           0.11                          0.45
Diluted net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.15                           0.12                           0.10                           0.11                           0.47
Diluted net earnings per share                                              0.12                           0.12                           0.10                           0.11                          0.44
Total assets                                                                     652,898                    603,462                    595,934                    566,053
Net debt(1)                                                                         56,271                      29,323                        8,492                           296
Shareholders’ equity                                                       415,772                    408,553                     403,017                    400,597
Cash dividend declared per common share                         0.04                          0,04                          0.04                          0.04                           0.16

2008 Quarters ended(2)                                                March 29                    June 28                     Sept. 27                     Dec. 31                          Total

Sales                                                                            $  159,591                 $  187,344                  $  218,247                 $  230,898                 $  796,080
Net earnings from continuing operations                           7,161                       11,642                       14,802                        14,413                       48,018
Net earnings                                                                      7,633                       12,057                       15,024                        13,717                       48,431
Basic net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.15                           0.24                           0.30                           0.31                           0.99
Basic net earnings per share                                                 0.16                           0.25                           0.31                           0.29                           1.00
Diluted net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.14                           0.23                           0.30                           0.31                           0.98
Diluted net earnings per share                                              0.15                           0.24                          0.30                           0.29                           0.99
Total assets                                                                      610,386                     654,779                     672,752                     658,289
Net debt(1)                                                                         51,820                       75,694                       79,789                       69,881
Shareholders’ equity                                                       375,002                     384,555                     396,369                      413,614
Cash dividend declared per common share                         0.04                           0.04                           0.04                           0.04                           0.16

2007 Quarters ended(2)                                                 March 31                    June 30                     Sept. 29                     Dec. 31                          Total

Sales                                                                            $  150,795                 $   212,473                  $  231,420                 $  244,065                 $  838,753
Net earnings from continuing operations                          7,428                       17,009                      16,457                       15,002                       55,896
Net earnings                                                                     6,354                       13,282                        14,143                       13,674                      47,453 
Basic net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.15                           0.35                           0.34                           0.31                            1.14
Basic net earnings per share                                                 0.13                           0.27                           0.29                           0.28                           0.97
Diluted net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.15                           0.34                           0.33                           0.30                            1.13
Diluted net earnings per share                                             0.13                           0.27                           0.29                           0.28                           0.96
Total assets                                                                     598,846                     655,876                     633,169                     585,097
Net debt(1)                                                                         85,459                      106,121                       95,682                       63,661
Shareholders’ equity                                                        345,917                     350,031                     353,224                     366,890
Cash dividend declared per common share                         0.04                           0.04                           0.04                           0.04                           0.16

2006 Quarters ended(2)                                                March 25                    June 24                     Sept. 30                     Dec. 31                          Total

Sales                                                                            $  140,992                 $   157,318                  $ 203,359                 $  203,441                 $   705,110
Net earnings from continuing operations                          5,752                         7,626                       13,898                       12,456                       39,732
Net earnings                                                                      5,426                         9,870                       13,296                        12,148                       40,740
Basic net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.14                           0.17                           0.29                           0.26                           0.86
Basic net earnings per share                                                 0.13                           0.22                           0.28                           0.25                           0.88
Diluted net earnings per share 

from continuing operations                                                0.14                           0.16                           0.29                           0.25                           0.85
Diluted net earnings per share                                              0.13                           0.21                           0.28                           0.24                           0.87
Total assets                                                                      571,395                     599,247                     610,765                     600,192                  
Net debt(1)                                                                       110,483                     120,701                     114,439                       88,444                  
Shareholders’ equity                                                         281,191                     314,592                     325,873                     343,360                  
Cash dividend declared:

Per common share                                                             0.04                           0.04                           0.04                           0.04                           0.16
Per Class “C” share                                                          0.0067                       0.0067                             - -                             - -                       0.0134

(1) Net debt comprises bank loans and the long-term debt, net of cash and cash equivalents, but does not include convertible debentures. 
(2) Restated.



Management’s Report with 
Respect to the Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of Canam Group Inc.
contained in this report, including the notes thereto, have been
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian gener-
ally accepted accounting principles. In addition, the financial
information contained elsewhere in this annual report is consis-
tent with the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the consolidated
financial statements included in this annual report. The Audit
Committee, which is composed of independent directors, 
Ms. Élaine Beaudoin and Messrs. Pierre Lortie (Chairman),
Pierre Marcouiller, Jean-Marie Toulouse and Jean Turmel,
reviews the contents of the consolidated financial statements
as well as related party transactions prior to their approval by
the Board of Directors. The external auditors discuss their audit
work with the Committee.

The Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP/s.r.l./s.e.n.c.r.l., are responsible for auditing the financial 
statements and providing an opinion thereon. Their report is
presented on the opposite page.

Marcel Dutil, C.M.
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer

Charles Pinel, CA
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of Canam Group Inc. 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Canam
Group Inc. as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the consoli-
dated statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss),
retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles.

Quebec, Quebec, Canada

February 23, 2010

1 Chartered accountant auditor permit No. 18144
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

Years ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts) 2009 2008

(restated)

Sales $ 625,843 $ 796,080
Cost of sales (note 19) 504,121 615,780
Gross profit 121,722 180,300
Selling and administrative expenses 71,541 79,193
Profit sharing programs 2,929 9,029
Exchange loss (gain) (2,493) 133
Interest income and other investment income (2,392) (662)
Increase in the redemption value of an investment in a related company - - (1,811)
Gain on disposal of investments (319) - -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment,

and on property, plant and equipment held for sale 497 712
Impairment of property, plant and equipment held for sale 132 331

51,827 93,375
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16,665 15,914
Amortization of intangible assets 1,294 1,760
Financial expenses (note 20) 4,512 5,677
Earnings before income tax expense and undermentioned items 29,356 70,024
Income tax expense

Current 4,026 18,979
Future 3,114 2,934

7,140 21,913
Earnings before undermentioned items 22,216 48,111
Share in loss of companies subject to significant influence (701) (93)
Net earnings from continuing operations 21,515 48,018
Net earnings (net loss) from discontinued operations (note 16) (1,465) 413
Net earnings $ 20,050 $ 48,431

Net earnings (net loss) per share (note 17)
Basic:

From continuing operations $ 0.48 $ 0.99
From discontinued operations (0.03) 0.01
Total $ 0.45 $ 1.00

Diluted:
From continuing operations $ 0.47 $ 0.98
From discontinued operations (0.03) 0.01
Total $ 0.44 $ 0.99

Weighted average number of common shares (in thousands of shares) (note 17)
Basic 45,057 48,486
Diluted 45,385 48,787

Number of common shares outstanding 45,368 45,647

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS
Years ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

Opening balance $ 232,208 $ 200,421
Net earnings 20,050 48,431
Dividends (7,261) (7,748)
Excess of acquisition cost over carrying value of acquired common shares (note 17) (968) (8,896)
Closing balance $ 244,029 $ 232,208

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Years ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

Net earnings $ 20,050 $ 48,431
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gains and losses on translating financial statements

of self-sustaining foreign operations $ (23,958) $ 32,103

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets
arising during the year $ 398 $ (208)

Income tax expense (80) (10)
Change in unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets $ 318 $ (218)

Reclassification in earnings of gains on derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges on sales $ - - $ (2,343)

Income tax expense - - 762
Change in gains on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges $ - - $ (1,581)

Other comprehensive income (loss) $ (23,640) $ 30,304

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (3,590) $ 78,735
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As at December 31
(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

(restated)

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 67,393 $ 15,619
Accounts receivable (note 3) 99,444 154,468
Inventories (note 4) 104,540 176,871
Income taxes recoverable 6,701 5,281
Future income tax assets (note 15) 1,008 2,062
Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,484 6,546
Current assets of discontinued operations (note 16) 1,380 14,307
Total current assets 283,950 375,154

Investments (note 5) 63,503 48,400
Property, plant and equipment (note 6) 184,359 185,945
Property, plant and equipment held for sale (note 7) 1,549 1,958
Intangible assets (note 8) 1,127 2,096
Goodwill (note 9) 150 150
Future income tax assets (note 15) 363 340
Long-term receivables and other assets (note 10) 21,612 30,164
Long-term assets of discontinued operations (note 16) 9,440 14,082

$ 566,053 $ 658,289

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Bank loan (note 11) $ - - $ 10,353
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 12) 77,112 126,177
Unrealized liabilities on foreign currency forward contracts (note 26) - - 743
Income taxes payable 635 284
Future income tax liabilities (note 15) 876 647
Current portion of long-term debt (note 13) 5,477 5,475
Current liabilities of discontinued operations (note 16) 1,495 13,903
Total current liabilities 85,595 157,582

Long-term debt (note 13) 62,212 69,672
Deferred credits (note 14) 4,749 4,394
Future income tax liabilities (note 15) 11,296 10,368
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations (note 16) 1,604 2,659

165,456 244,675

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 17) 178,024 179,681
Retained earnings 244,029 232,208
Contributed surplus (note 17) 4,862 4,403
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (note 18) (26,318) (2,678)

400,597 413,614
$ 566,053 $ 658,289

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies and commitments (note 25)
Subsequent events (note 29)

On behalf of the Board,

Marcel Dutil, C.M. Pierre Lortie, C.M.
Director Director

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

(restated)
Cash flows from the following activities:
Operating activities
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 21,515 $ 48,018
Items not affecting cash and cash equivalents

Compensation costs related to stock options - - 14
Amortization of compensation costs related to the 

profit sharing program – stock ownership component 1,780 1,559
Unrealized gain on foreign currency forward contracts (743) (646)
Increase in the redemption value of an investment in a related company - - (1,811)
Gain on disposal of investments (319) - -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment held for sale 132 331
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, 

and on property, plant and equipment held for sale 497 712
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16,665 15,914
Amortization of intangible assets 1,294 1,760
Amortization of deferred financing expenses 214 235
Pension expense (322) (618)
Future income tax expense 3,114 2,934
Share in loss of companies subject to significant influence 701 93

44,528 68,495
Net change in non-cash operating working capital items

Decrease in accounts receivable 46,590 15,359
Decrease (increase) in inventories 62,179 (51,153)
Increase in income taxes recoverable (1,614) (4,058)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets 2,689 (1,901)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (40,928) 16,726
Decrease in interest payable (26) (8)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable 418 (7,616)

69,308 (32,651)
Cash flows from continuing operating activities 113,836 35,844
Financing activities
Shares purchased by a trust in employees’ name on the secondary market (1,871) (1,970)
Repurchase of shares (note 17) (2,122) (24,231)
Proceeds from issuance of shares 47 365
Dividends (7,261) (7,748)
Increase in long-term debt and bank loans 11,977 42,770
Repayment of long-term debt and bank loans (26,403) (28,814)
Issue expenses related to long-term debt - - (216)
Deferred credits (237) 134
Cash flows from continuing financing activities (25,870) (19,710)
Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 923 1,594
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment held for sale - - 3,797
Additions to property, plant and equipment (27,791) (27,075)
Additions to intangible assets (467) (957)
Acquisition of investments (20,704) (1,770)
Proceeds from disposal of investments 3,572 - -
Distribution from companies subject to significant influence 467 109
Decrease in long-term receivables 8,807 7,504
Increase in long-term receivables (4,383) (661)
Cash flows from continuing investing activities (39,576) (17,459)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents (143) 3,598
Net change in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 48,247 2,273
Cash flows from discontinued operations

Operating activities 3,132 1,525
Investing activities 395 1,273

3,527 2,798
Cash, beginning of year 15,619 10,548
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 67,393 $ 15,619
Supplementary information

Interest paid $ 3,894 $ 4,912
Income taxes paid, net $ 3,271 $ 28,654

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Company Description
Canam Group Inc. (the Company) is an industrial company operating 12
plants specialized in the design and fabrication of construction products
and solutions. The Company employs 2,476 people in Canada, the
United States, Romania and India, and has partnerships with companies
in Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates and China.

2. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company, its subsidiaries, variable interest entities (VIEs) where the
Company is the primary beneficiary, as well as joint ventures. The pro-
portionate consolidation method is used to account for investments in
joint ventures.

Variable interest entities
The Company identifies VIEs in which it has an interest and determines
whether it is the primary beneficiary of such entities. If the Company is
the primary beneficiary of the VIEs, it must consolidate these entities. A
variable interest entity is defined as an entity in which the equity is not
sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without external
financial support, or the equity investors lack either voting control and
an obligation to absorb expected losses or the right to receive expected
returns.
On June 24, 2006, the Company sold 65% of the voting and participating
shares of Canam Romsa de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (Romsa), a company that
operates a joist and structural steel fabrication plant in Monterrey, to
local partners. In accordance with Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (CICA) Accounting Guideline No. 15 (AcG-15), and following
the sale of 65% of the shares and the retention of Romsa securities 
(note receivable for 65,820,000 pesos secured by a hypothec on the
Monterrey plant, term loan of US$3,250 for which Romsa’s equipment,
inventories and accounts receivable have been pledged as collateral, and
preferred shares in the amount of US$1,800 as at December 31, 2008),
the latter was referred to as a VIE of which the Company was the primary
beneficiary. Accordingly, the Company had to consolidate the accounts
of Romsa. 
On June 15, 2009, the Company sold its 35% interest in the share capital
of Romsa to Pysei Estructuras, S.A. de C.V. (Pysei). The Company presents
Romsa as a discontinued operation and the financial statements of prior
periods were restated. See note 16 on discontinued operations.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported in the
consolidated financial statements. These estimates also affect the disclo-
sure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition
Revenues from the sale of construction products are recognized when
the products have been delivered, and in certain cases, upon storage
when all the criteria under Emerging Issues Committee Abstract 141
(EIC-141), “Revenue Recognition”, have been met. Revenues from erection
contracts are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method
based on erection costs incurrred versus projected costs.

Proceeds from the sale of discontinued semitrailer operations and
forestry equipment are recognized when the units have been delivered to
the location specified in the contractual agreement. Where the contract
contains a contractual obligation to repossess the semitrailer or the
forestry equipment at a given price in the future or where the Company
has granted recovery guarantees to a third party, the revenues from such
transactions are deferred and recognized in earnings on a straight-line
basis from the transaction date to the date on which the return option
may be exercised or the date on which the recovery guarantee ends. 
The semitrailers and forestry equipment are therefore considered as
property, plant and equipment leased to clients and depreciated over this
period.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents mainly include cash and highly liquid invest-
ments that are readily convertible to determinable amounts of cash and
have maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Investments
Investments in companies subject to significant influence are recorded
using the equity method of accounting. For the other investments, see
the section on financial assets and liabilities in the present note.

Inventories
Inventories of raw materials, work in process and finished goods are
valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined
using the average cost method.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are accounted for at cost and depreciated
over their estimated useful lives using the methods and annual
rates/depreciable lives indicated below:

Methods Rates/Terms
Buildings and land improvements Declining balance 5% and 10%

Production equipment Declining balance 15%
Automotive equipment Declining balance 15% to 30%

Semitrailers and forestry
equipment leased to clients Straight-line 4 to 10 years

Computer and office equipment Straight-line 3 to 7 years

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are accounted for at cost and amortized on a straight-
line basis over their useful lives according to the following annual terms: 

Terms
Software 1 to 5 years

Technologies 3 years
Customer relationships 2 years

Trade names 1 year
Backlogs of orders 1 year

Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment upon the occurrence of
events or changes in circumstances indicating that the carrying value 
of the assets may not be recoverable, as measured by comparing their
net carrying value to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows 
generated by their use. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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Income taxes 
Income taxes are calculated using the asset and liability method. Under
this method, future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized as
estimated income taxes recoverable or payable which would arise from
the recovery or settlement of assets and liabilities at the carrying value
recorded in the financial statements. Future income tax assets from
deferred tax losses and temporary timing differences are recognized if it
is more likely than not that they will be realized. Future income tax assets
and liabilities are measured using substantively enacted and enacted tax
rates expected to apply in the years in which the timing differences are
expected to reverse. Changes in these amounts are recognized in
earnings in the year in which they occur.

Goodwill
Goodwill is subject to an impairment test performed during the fourth
quarter of each year. The test will be performed more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired.
Testing for impairment is accomplished by determining whether the fair
value of a reporting unit, based on discounted cash flows, exceeds the
net carrying amount of the net assets of that reporting unit as at the
assessment date. In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the fair
value, a second test must be performed whereby the fair value of the
reporting unit’s goodwill must be estimated to determine if it is less than
its carrying amount. Fair value of goodwill is estimated in the same
manner as goodwill is determined in an acquisition, that is, the excess of
the fair value of the reporting unit over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets of the reporting unit.

Employee future benefits
The Company recognizes its employee benefit obligations and the related
costs, net of plan assets, over the period in which employees render
services.

Defined benefit pension plans
The Company has two defined benefit pension plans and has adopted
the following policies regarding these plans:
- the Company has selected the prospective method of application and

thus amortizes the transitional asset on a straight-line basis over the
average remaining service period of active employees expected to
receive benefits under the pension plan;

- the cost of pension benefits earned by employees is actuarially deter-
mined using the projected benefit method prorated on service and
management’s best estimate of, among others, the expected rate of
return on plan assets, salary escalation and retirement age;

- for the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, these
assets are recorded at fair value;

- past service cost resulting from amendments to the plans is amortized
on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of
active employees at the date of the plan amendments;

- the excess of the net actuarial gain (loss) over 10% of the greater of the
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets is amortized over the
average remaining service period of active employees. As at January 1,
2009, the average remaining service period of active employees was
nine years. The average estimated future service period for additional
contracts is twelve years. 

Defined contribution pension plan
For the Company’s defined contribution plan, the pension expense is
equal to the contributions paid by the Company. 

Research and development expenses 
Research expenses are charged to earnings. Development expenses are
charged to earnings except for those meeting the following criteria: the
product is clearly defined, the feasibility of the product has been 
established, management intends to manufacture the product, the future
market for the product is defined, and the Company has adequate
resources to complete the project. Research and development expenses
charged to earnings for the current year are included under “Cost of
sales”.

Foreign currency translation
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures con-
sidered as self-sustaining are translated using the current rate method.
Under this method, assets and liabilities are translated in Canadian
dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date, and
earnings items are translated in Canadian dollars at the average
exchange rate for the year. Translation adjustments arising from
exchange rate fluctuations are shown as “Accumulated other compre-
hensive loss” under Shareholders’ equity.
All other foreign currency transactions are accounted for using the
temporal method. Consequently, all monetary items are translated 
at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date, and all
non-monetary items, including related expenses, are translated at histor-
ical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the
exchange rate in effect at the transaction date. Exchange gains or losses
are reflected in earnings. 

Earnings per share
Basic net earnings per share are based on the weighted average number
of common shares issued and outstanding, and obtained by dividing net
earnings by the weighted average number of outstanding shares during
the year. Diluted net earnings per share are obtained by dividing basic
net earnings by the sum of: a) the weighted average number of common
shares used to calculate basic net earnings per share; b) the weighted
average number of common shares that would be issued if all of the
potentially dilutive outstanding common shares were converted using
the treasury stock method for stock options; and c) the number of
unamortized shares over the three-year vesting period related to the
profit sharing program – stock ownership component.

Stock-based compensation 
and other stock-based payments 
Stock option plan
Awards granted under the Company’s stock option plan are recognized
in earnings using the fair value method.
Profit sharing program – Stock ownership component
Under its profit sharing program, the Company has introduced a stock
ownership component whereby common shares are purchased on 
the secondary market and held by a trust on behalf of employees, 
as described in note 17. Compensation costs are recognized over a
three-year vesting period. These are charged to earnings and offset by a
recorded increase in contributed surplus. On delivery of the shares to 
the employees, a reduction in contributed surplus and an increase in
share capital will be recorded.

Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is composed of net earnings and other
comprehensive income (loss), including all changes in equity resulting
from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner
sources, including unrealized gains and losses resulting from the transla-
tion of financial statements of self-sustaining foreign operations, as well
as unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, resulting from changes in the
fair value of available-for-sale financial assets and the portion of gains or
losses, net of tax, on the hedging item that is considered an effective cash
flow hedge. 
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Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and
subsequently recognized according to their classification. The classifica-
tion depends on the intention with which the financial instruments were
acquired and their characteristics. Unless in the presence of specific 
circumstances, the classification is not modified after initial recognition. 
Assets and liabilities held for trading
Financial instruments classified as assets or liabilities held for trading are
recognized at fair value at each balance sheet date, and any change in
the fair value is reflected in net earnings in the period during which these
changes take place. 
Held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables 
and other financial liabilities 
Financial instruments classified as held-to-maturity investments, loans
and receivables, and other financial liabilities are accounted for at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest income or
expense is included in net earnings over the expected life of the financial
instrument. 
Available-for-sale assets 
Financial instruments classified as available for sale are recorded at fair
value, and the gains/losses resulting from the revaluation at the end of
each period are recognized in comprehensive income (loss). Securities
classified as available for sale that do not have quoted market price in an
active market are recognized at cost. Available-for-sale securities are
reduced to fair value (recognition of a loss in earnings) when it is neces-
sary to reflect a permanent decline in value. Upon derecognition, all
cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) are reflected in net earnings.

Hedges
The Company did not apply hedge accounting to foreign currency
forward contracts in 2009 and 2008. Foreign currency forward contracts
that are not designated as a hedging instrument are recognized at fair
value and any subsequent change in fair value is recognized in net
earnings.

Transaction costs 
Transaction costs related to financial instruments that are not classified
as held for trading are recognized on the balance sheet as an adjustment
to the cost of the financial instrument upon initial recognition and 
amortized using the effective interest rate method. Deferred financing
expenses related to revolving loans and recognized under long-term
assets are amortized over the financing period.

Changes in accounting policies
On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted Section 3064, “Goodwill and
Intangible Assets”, of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(CICA) Handbook. This section establishes standards for the recognition,
measurement and disclosure applicable to intangible assets. It replaces
Section 3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, and Section 3450,
“Research and Development Costs”.
The adoption of this section had no impact on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.
On January 20, 2009, the Company adopted Emerging Issues Committee
(EIC) Abstract 173, “Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities”, which applies without restatement of prior periods
to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in interim and
annual financial statements. Under EIC-173, the Company must take
both its own credit risk and the counterparty credit risk into account
when determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities,
including derivatives. 
The adoption of EIC-173 had no impact on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.  

Future accounting changes
On February 13, 2008, the Accounting Standards Board confirmed the
date of changeover from Canadian GAAP to International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). Canadian publicly accountable enterprises
must adopt IFRS for their interim and annual financial statements
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 
The Company has developed a plan for the conversion of its consoli-
dated financial statements to IFRS. An analysis of the differences between
IFRS and the Company’s accounting standards was conducted. The
analysis considered the potential impacts, among others, on accounting
policies, financial reporting and computer information systems.
Accounting changes are expected, and these should have an impact on
the Company’s financial statements. An evaluation of such impact is 
currently underway. The anticipated impact on accounting policies is
summarized as follows:
a) Adoption of the straight-line method for buildings, production

equipment and automotive equipment;
- Presently, in accordance with Canadian GAAP, these property, plant

and equipment items are depreciated using the declining balance
method;

b) Actuarial gains and losses related to defined benefit pension plans
will be recognized in comprehensive income (loss) during the period
in which they arise. The consolidated balance sheet will show the
present value of the deficit (liabilities) or surplus (assets) of pension
plans;
- Presently, actuarial gains and losses are amortized against earnings

over the estimated average remaining service period of active
employees;

c) Recognition of the joint venture using the equity method;
- Presently, the joint venture is accounted for using the proportionate

consolidation method.
Under IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards”, an entity may elect that the translation differences for all
foreign operations be deemed to be zero at the date of transition and
that they be applied against retained earnings. The Company plans to
use this election.
In addition, modifications were made to the Company’s information
technology systems to support the expected changes following the
application of IFRS. The Company has established its strategy and its
implementation plan regarding the timetable for the parallel financial
reporting.
Finally, consolidated financial statements including the disclosure
required by IFRS are currently being prepared. 
The IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) will continue to
publish new accounting standards during the transition period.
Consequently, the definite impact of IFRS on the Company’s consoli-
dated financial statements will only be assessed when all IFRS applicable
on the transition date are known.
The CICA published the following sections of the CICA Handbook that
apply to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early adoption of these sections is
permitted as of the beginning of fiscal 2010.
a) Section 1582, “Business Combinations”, which replaces the former

Section 1581 with the same title, establishes accounting standards 
for a business combination. It provides the Canadian equivalent 
to International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 3, “Business
Combinations”. 

b) Section 1601, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, which replaces the
former Section 1600 with the same title, establishes standards for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements. 

c) Section 1602, “Non-Controlling Interests”. This new section estab-
lishes standards on accounting for non-controlling interests in a
subsidiary in consolidated financial statements prepared subsequent
to a business combination. It is equivalent to the corresponding pro-
visions of International Accounting Standard IAS 27, “Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements”. 

The Company is presently evaluating the impact of these new standards
on its financial statements. 
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3. Accounts Receivable
2009 2008

(restated)

Trade $ 83,432 $ 140,537
Companies subject to significant influence(1) 4,230 4,274
Other related companies(2) 6,810 6,088
Advances and other 4,972 3,569

$ 99,444 $ 154,468

(1) The balance as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 includes an advance of $1,874 to
Alta Industriel Ltd. resulting from the sale, on December 22, 2008, of preferred-
shares that the Company held in Finloc Inc. (note 5 a).

(2) Corresponds mainly to accounts receivable from Placements CMI Inc. and one
of its subsidiaries (note 24 a). The balance also includes the current portion of
$4,000 ($2,500 as at December 31, 2008) of the note receivable from Placements
CMI Inc. totaling $20,000 ($25,000 as at December 31, 2008) (note 10).

4. Inventories
2009 2008

(restated)

Raw materials $ 81,274 $ 130,799
Work in progress 9,872 4,277
Finished goods 13,394 41,795

$ 104,540 $ 176,871

5. Investments
2009 2008

Companies subject to 
significant influence a) $ 32,995 $ 45,659

Portfolio investments b) 30,508 2,741
$ 63,503 $ 48,400

a) The balance of investments in companies subject to significant influ-
ence includes the Company’s ownership interest in Alta Industrial Ltd.
in the amount of $22,258 as at December 31, 2009 ($23,126 as at
December 31, 2008).
On December 22, 2008, the Company sold to Placements CMI Inc. all
the preferred shares it held in Finloc Inc., a company controlled by
Placements CMI Inc. (note 24 a) , for an exchange value of $56,646
payable as follows:
-  A transfer to the Company by Placements CMI Inc., in the amount of

$23,126, of 501 Class “C” shares and 1,938,500 Class “A” shares of
Alta Industriel Ltd. (Alta), a real estate developer that owns land,
which represent 50% of the issued and outstanding shares in each
of these classes, and a non-interest-bearing note issued by Alta to
Finloc Inc. in the amount of $1,874. 

-  A note issued to the Company in the amount of $31,647, secured by
a moveable hypothec, bearing interest at an annual rate of 5.81%,
for which a principal repayment of $6,647 was made on December
30, 2008, leaving a balance of $25,000. In 2009, Placements CMI Inc.
reimbursed $5,000, plus interest, which reduced the balance to
$20,000 as at December 31, 2009. During fiscal 2010, Placements
CMI Inc. will reimburse $4,000 plus interest. Beginning in 2011,
quarterly payments will amount to $500 plus interest.

The investment in Finloc Inc. was redeemable as of the year 2008 and
had to be redeemed in full in June 2016. The redemption value of pre-
ferred shares grew at an annual rate of 3.77%.
On October 30, 2009, the Company sold its interest in JD2, Inc., a
structural steel broker, for a consideration of US$3,600. An amount of
US$2,300 was cashed on November 30, 2009. The balance of
US$1,300 bears interest at 5% and is repayable as of February 1, 2010
in 20 quarterly payments of US$65 plus interest. A gain on disposal of
investment of $110 was recorded. 

b) On December 21, 2009, the Company acquired, from a subsidiary of
Placements CMI Inc. (note 24 a), a 15% interest in FabSouth LLC and in
FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC, a structural steel fabricator, for a consid-
eration of $11,941 (US$11,250), plus or less, as applicable, an amount
equal to 15% of the difference between the working capital value and
US$20,000, which value is determined based on FabSouth’s audited
financial statements as at December 31, 2009 (note 29). 
On December 31, 2009, the Company acquired an additional 1.67%
interest in FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC for a consideration of US$83.

6. Property, Plant and Equipment
2009

Accumulated Net 
Cost depreciation amount

Land $ 13,966 $ - - $ 13,966
Buildings and land improvements 171,196 67,598 103,598
Production equipment 163,648 104,317 59,331
Automotive equipment 13,115 9,217 3,898
Computer and office equipment 19,912 17,622 2,290
Non-depreciable assets 1,276 - - 1,276

$ 383,113 $ 198,754 $184,359

2008
Accumulated Net 

Cost depreciation amount

Land $ 13,922 $ - - $ 13,922
Buildings and land improvements 171,728 66,385 105,343
Production equipment 167,198 108,567 58,631
Automotive equipment 13,078 9,623 3,455
Computer and office equipment 24,461 21,140 3,321
Non-depreciable assets 1,273 - - 1,273

$ 391,660 $ 205,715 $ 185,945

7. Property, Plant and Equipment 
Held for Sale

2009 2008

United States

Property, plant and equipment
held for sale $ 1,549 $ 1,958

The Company closed its plants in Lafayette, Indiana, and Columbus,
Ohio, in 2003 and 2004 respectively. The Company decided to close
these plants because of excess production capacity in the joist business
in the Midwest region. Property, plant and equipment held for sale are
accounted for at the lower of cost and net estimated realizable value. 
On January 14, 2008, the Company sold a portion of the land located in
Lafayette, Indiana, for a consideration of US$541 ($552), which generated a
pre-tax gain of US$59 ($60). In addition, on April 25, 2008, the Company
sold the land and building located in Columbus, Ohio, for a consideration
of US$3,316 ($3,371), which generated a pre-tax gain of US$26 ($26). 
During fiscal 2009, a decline in value of $132 ($331 in 2008) was recog-
nized in earnings in order to reduce these capital assets to their net
estimated realizable value. 
The earnings and cash flows of the two plants located in the United
States are included in the Company’s current operations and are not
considered to be discontinued operations, as the sales territories of these
plants are still covered by the U.S. subsidiary’s other plants.
The Lafayette plant is the subject of a sustained sale offer according to
conditions in the local real estate market.
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8. Intangible Assets
2009

Accumulated Net 
Cost amortization amount

Software $ 9,132 $ 8,075 $ 1,057
Technologies 203 133 70

$ 9,335 $ 8,208 $ 1,127

2008
(restated)

Accumulated Net 
Cost amortization amount

Software $ 10,080 $ 8,368 $ 1,712
Technologies 601 320 281
Customer relationships 435 332 103

$ 11,116 $ 9,020 $ 2,096

9. Goodwill
2009 2008

Balance - Beginning of year $ 150 $ 312
Decrease resulting from a joint venture 
that has become a company subject to 
significant influence (note 27) - - (162)

Balance - End of year $ 150 $ 150

10. Long-term Receivables and Other Assets
2009 2008

Long-term receivables(1) $ 4,631 $ 6,525
Placements CMI Inc. - note receivable(2) 16,000 22,500
Deferred financing expenses 428 676
Accrued benefit assets (note 22) 553 231
Others - - 232

$ 21,612 $ 30,164

(1) As at December 31, 2009, the balance of long-term receivables includes $2,468
($4,585 as at December 31, 2008) from companies subject to significant influ-
ence.  

(2) The note receivable results from the sale, on December 22, 2008, of preferred
shares the Company held in Finloc Inc. (note 5 a).

11. Bank Loan
The authorized bank loan of the U.S. subsidiary totaled $52,550
(US$50,000) ($60,900 as at December 31, 2008). It is unused as at
December 31, 2009 while the balance used as at December 31, 2008
totaled $10,353 (US$8,500). The bank loan is secured by accounts receiv-
able and inventories and matures in October 2012. The bank loan bears
interest at the Libor rate plus a premium calculated on the basis of the
fixed-charge coverage ratio. 

12. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
2009 2008

(restated)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 74,249 $ 124,074
Companies subject to significant influence 2,020 797
Other related companies(1) 843 1,306

$ 77,112 $ 126,177

(1) Corresponds to accounts payable to companies controlled by Placements CMI
Inc. (note 24 a).

13. Long-Term Debt
Interest rate 2009

Non-revolving loan a) 5.75% $ 41,867
Non-revolving loan b) 6% 12,596
Non-revolving loan (US$8,556) c) 1.98% 8,992
Industrial bond secured by a building

and certain equipment and 
maturing in 2030 (US$3,700) d) 0.35% 3,889

Other 345
$ 67,689

Less: Current portion 5,477
$ 62,212

Interest rate 2008

Non-revolving loan a) 5.75% $ 44,635
Non-revolving loan b) 6% 14,062
Non-revolving loan (US$9,222) c) 1.44% 11,233
Industrial bond secured by a building

and certain equipment and 
maturing in 2030 (US$4,000) d) 1.45% 4,872

Other 345
$ 75,147

Less: Current portion 5,475
$ 69,672

a) Non-revolving loan at a fixed rate, maturing in November 2016. 
The amortization period is 14 years and monthly payments began in
December 2007. The buildings in Quebec City, Boucherville (2),
Mississauga and Calgary have been pledged as collateral. 

b) Non-revolving loan at a fixed rate, maturing in June 2018, refundable
in semiannual payments. The building in Saint-Gédéon-de-Beauce
has been pledged as collateral. 

c) Non-revolving credit of the U.S. subsidiary at a floating rate based on
the Libor rate plus a premium calculated on the basis of the fixed-
charge coverage ratio, maturing in October 2012 and refundable
monthly over a 15-year amortization period. Certain buildings in the
United States have been pledged as collateral.  

d) The industrial bond is secured by a letter of credit that reduces the
authorized bank loan of the U.S. subsidiary. 

The Company also put in place an authorized revolving loan of $80,000
bearing interest at a floating rate based on the bankers’ acceptance rate
plus a premium based on the net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio,
maturing in October 2011. The loan is secured by a moveable hypothec
on the Company’s accounts receivable and inventories. The revolving
credit is unused as at December 31, 2009 and 2008.
The instalments required to reimburse the long-term debt over the next
five years, taking into account the exchange rate as at December 31,
2009, are as follows:

2010 $ 5,477
2011 $ 5,649
2012 $ 12,723
2013 $ 5,325
2014 $ 5,530

14. Deferred Credits
2009 2008

(restated)

Provisions for insurance $ 3,335 $ 3,566
Other 1,414 828

$ 4,749 $ 4,394
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15. Income Taxes
The timing differences, including deferrals from which future income tax
assets and liabilities arise, are as follows: 

2009 2008
(restated)

Future income tax assets
Current
Provisions and other accrued liabilities $ 1,008 $ 2,062
Long-term
Investments and other items 363 340

Future income tax liabilities
Current
Provisions and other accrued liabilities $ (876) $ (647)
Long-term
Property, plant and equipment (11,296) (10,368)
Future income tax liabilities, net $ (10,801) $ (8,613)

The difference between the effective tax rate and the basic tax rate appli-
cable to operating results is explained as follows:

2009 2008
(restated)

Basic federal and provincial rate $ 8,980 $ 21,609
Differences in tax rate applicable to  

foreign subsidiaries (1,820) 542
Permanent differences and other elements (640) (524)
Tax benefit related to timing differences 620 286
Income tax expense $ 7,140 $ 21,913

As at December 31, 2009, the Company has available deductible capital
losses of $41,585 ($47,081 as at December 31, 2008), which may be
carried forward indefinitely and will be applied against future capital
gains. These losses, for which no future income tax assets have been rec-
ognized in the financial statements, are available at the federal, Ontario
and Alberta levels. In Quebec, deductible capital losses totaled $20,103.
No future income tax assets have been recognized for these losses in the
financial statements.

16. Discontinued Operations
On April 15, 2002, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a
plan to sell the operations of Canam S.A. which operated the structural
steel plant in Niort, France. 
The net assets of the Manac division, which specializes in the fabrication
of semitrailers, were sold on April 25, 2004. The transaction amount was
$66,511, of which $58,542 was paid in cash and the balance was settled
in non-voting and non-participating Class “C” ($5,000) and Class “D”
($2,969) preferred shares. As a result of the characteristics of Class “C”
shares, which are retractable without a redemption schedule, these
shares have not been assigned a carrying value, in accordance with the
CICA Handbook standards. On September 29, 2006, the Company and
Manac Inc. agreed to convert the 5 million Class “C” shares into a deben-
ture of $5,000, bearing interest at an annual rate of 6%. Interest is
payable semiannually. The principal amount will become repayable as of
the time the debenture issued by Manac Inc. to the Solidarity Fund QFL is
fully repaid in February 2013. 
On August 15, 2005, the Company sold the assets of its operating facility
located in Juárez, México.
Management considers that all the criteria found in Section 3475 of 
the CICA Handbook were met after the Company’s decision, on Sep -
tember 1, 2006, to cease the forestry equipment manufacturing activities.
The Company records Tanguay Industries as a discontinued operation.
On June 15, 2009, the Company sold its 35% interest in the share capital
of Romsa to Pysei for a consideration of 30 Mexican pesos, thus 
realizing a net loss of $0.1M.  
This transaction was followed by the purchase, on June 26, 2009, of
Romsa’s land, building and production equipment (Monterrey plant) by
Canam de Juárez, S.A. de C.V. (Juárez), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in consideration of the assumption by Juárez of accounts
payable owed to the Company by Romsa totaling 65,820,000 Mexican
pesos ($5,747). Since that date, Juárez has leased the Monterrey plant to
Romsa for a monthly rental expense of 400,000 Mexican pesos. The rent
payment is secured by Romsa’s accounts receivable and inventories. The
Company has accounted for Romsa as a discontinued operation, and the
financial statements of prior periods have been restated.
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The results of the discontinued operations are as follows: 

2009 2008
(restated)

Semi- Forestry Mexico Mexico Semi- Forestry Mexico Mexico
trailers equipment France (Juárez) (Romsa) Total trailers equipment France (Juárez) (Romsa) Total

Sales $ 1,114 $ 654 $ - - $ - - $ 9,821 $11,589 $ 1,731 $ 1,632 $ - - $ - - $37,623 $40,986
Net earnings (net loss) 

from discontinued 
operations $ 397 $ (64) $ (343) $ (138) $ (1,317) $ (1,465) $ 194 $ (182) $ 93 $ (34) $ 342 $ 413

The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations presented on the balance sheet are as follows:

2009 2008
(restated)

Semi- Forestry Mexico Semi- Forestry Mexico Mexico
trailers equipment France (Juárez) Total trailers equipment France (Juárez) (Romsa) Total

Assets
Current assets

Cash $ - - $ - - $ - - $ - - $ - - $ - - $ - - $ - - $ 90 $ 360 $ 450
Accounts receivable 75 470 150 - - 695 75 642 853 - - 3,267 4,837
Inventories - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 7,348 7,348
Income taxes recoverable - - 218 - - - - 218 - - 68 - - - - - - 68
Future income tax assets 42 425 - - - - 467 68 603 - - - - 933 1,604
Total current assets of 

discontinued operations 117 1,113 150 - - 1,380 143 1,313 853 90 11,908 14,307
Semitrailers and forestry

equipment leased 
to clients(1) 2,142 174 - - - - 2,316 3,177 379 - - - - - - 3,556

Property, plant and
equipment - - 1,308 - - 492 1,800 - - 1,454 - - 544 - - 1,998

Intangible assets - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 11 11
Long-term receivables 4,929(2) - - 330 - - 5,259 4,869(2) 350 1,822 - - - - 7,041
Future income tax assets 9 56 - - - - 65 35 48 - - - - 1,393 1,476
Total long-term assets of

discontinued operations 7,080 1,538 330 492 9,440 8,081 2,231 1,822 544 1,404 14,082
Total assets of 

discontinued operations $ 7,197 $ 2,651 $ 480 $ 492 $10,820 $ 8,224 $ 3,544 $ 2,675 $ 634 $ 13,312 $28,389
Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $ - - $ 456 $ - - $ - - $ 456 $ - - $ 502 $ - - $ 42 $ 11,952 $12,496

Deferred revenue(3) 805 82 - - - - 887 1,114 191 - - - - - - 1,305
Income taxes payable 152 - - - - - - 152 44 - - - - - - 58 102
Total current liabilities of 

discontinued operations 957 538 - - - - 1,495 1,158 693 - - 42 12,010 13,903
Obligations relating to 

residual values - - 106 - - - - 106 - - 196 - - - - - - 196
Deferred revenue(3) 1,479 - - - - - - 1,479 2,285 28 - - - - - - 2,313
Other liabilities 19 - - - - - - 19 18 - - - - - - 132 150
Total long-term liabilities of

discontinued operations 1,498 106 - - - - 1,604 2,303 224 - - - - 132 2,659
Total liabilities of 

discontinued operations $ 2,455 $ 644 $ - - $ - - $ 3,099 $ 3,461 $ 917 $ - - $ 42 $ 12,142 $16,562
(1) The amounts of $2,142 ($3,177 as at December 31, 2008) for semitrailers and $174 ($379 as at December 31, 2008) for forestry equipment leased to clients result from the

application of EIC-84 and EIC-85 relating to guarantees provided to financial institutions regarding resale values or lease contracts. These assets and the related liabili-
ties are amortized on a straight-line basis over the duration of the guarantees that expire at various dates through 2012.

The Company has guaranteed commitments for  forestry equipment lease contracts for an amount of $481 ($954 as at December 31, 2008), which have been included
under Contingencies and Commitments (note 25). 

(2) Long-term debenture from Manac Inc., bearing interest at an annual rate of 6% and redeemable in February 2013.
(3) These liabilities are related to semitrailers and forestry equipment leased to clients.
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17. Share Capital
Authorized
- Unlimited number of common shares, without par value, participating,

entitling the holder to one vote per share.
- Unlimited number of Class “D”, “E” and “F” shares, without par value,

issuable in one or more series and whose attributes are to be deter-
mined by the Board of Directors.

Issued and fully paid
Amount

Common shares Number (in thousands 
of dollars)

Outstanding as at December 31, 2007 49,366,106 $ 199,317
Issuance of shares pursuant to options 77,600 375
Repurchase of shares(1) (3,796,906) (15,335)
Outstanding as at December 31, 2008 45,646,800 $ 184,357

Shares purchased by a trust in employees’
name on the secondary market (507,385) (4,676)

Net balance outstanding 
as at December 31, 2008 45,139,415 $ 179,681

Issuance of shares pursuant to options 7,000 $ 60
Shares purchased by a trust in employees’

name on the secondary market (385,788) (1,871) 
Shares acquired by employees(2) 170,904 1,308
Repurchase of shares(1) (285,721) $ (1,154)
Net balance outstanding 

as at December 31, 2009 44,645,810 $ 178,024

Outstanding as at December 31, 2009 45,368,079 $ 183,263
Shares purchased by a trust in employees’

name on the secondary market (722,269) (5,239) 
Net balance outstanding 

as at December 31, 2009 44,645,810 $ 178,024

Statement of changes in contributed surplus

2009 2008

Opening balance $ 4,403 $ 2,840
Compensation costs related to

stock options - - 14
Options exercised (13) (10)
Amortization of compensation costs

related to the profit sharing 
program – stock ownership
component 1,780 1,559

Shares acquired by employees(2) (1,308) - -
Closing balance $ 4,862 $ 4,403
(1) During the third quarter of 2008, the Company filed a notice of intention with

the Toronto Stock Exchange to make a normal course issuer bid. Common
shares can be repurchased during the 12-month period that began on
August 11, 2008 and ended August 10, 2009. At the end of the Buyback
Program, the Company could repurchase, through the facilities of and in accor-
dance with the requirements of the Toronto Stock Exchange, up to 4,074,706
outstanding common shares, representing approximately 10% of publicly-held
common shares. The acquired common shares were cancelled. 

For the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2008, the Company acquired
3,796,906 common shares at an average price of $6.38 for a total amount of
$24,231, of which $15,335 was applied against share capital and $8,896 was
applied against retained earnings. 

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company acquired 277,800 common
shares at an average price of $7.50 for a total amount of $2,084. An amount of
$1,122 has been applied against share capital and an amount of $962 has been
applied against retained earnings. The buyback program for 4,074,706 common
shares was completed on January 21, 2009 at an average price of $6.46 per
share for a total amount of $26,315.

Under the stock ownership component of its profit sharing program, the
Company repurchased 7,921 common shares at an average price of $4.77 for a
total amount of $38. An amount of $32 has been applied against share capital
and an amount of $6 has been applied against retained earnings. 

During the the third quarter of 2009, the Company filed a notice of intention
with the Toronto Stock Exchange to make a normal course issuer bid. Common
shares may be repurchased during the 12-month period that began on
August 11, 2009 and ending August 10, 2010. At the end of the Buyback
Program, the Company could repurchase up to 3,632,509 outstanding common
shares, representing approximately 10% of publicly-held common shares. The
acquired common shares will be cancelled. No common shares were repur-
chased as at December 31, 2009.

(2) These shares were delivered to employees. A reduction in contributed surplus
and an increase in share capital were recorded. 

Profit sharing program – Stock ownership component
Under its profit sharing plan for management personnel, the Company
has introduced a stock ownership component whereby common shares
are purchased on the secondary market and held by a trust on behalf of
employees until the rights are acquired by the employees. Employees’
rights vest over a period of three years and the related stock-based com-
pensation costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over this period.
As at December 31, 2009, the trust held 722,269 Company shares
(507,385 as at December 31, 2008) with an acquisition cost of $5,239
($4,676 as at December 31, 2008). 
Stock option plan
In 1985, the Company introduced a stock option plan for key employees
(the Plan). As at December 31, 2009, stock options totaling 520,900
common shares had not been exercised. Options granted are exercisable
over a period not to exceed 10 years from the date they are granted.
Each option is exercisable at a cash price equal to the market price of the
shares on the date of grant. The related rights vest at a rate of 20% per
year for options granted before November 6, 2002. As of this date, rights
vest at a rate of 20% per year, beginning two years after the date 
of grant. The Company ceased granting new stock options in 2004 
following a change to its variable pay program.  
The value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

A summary of options outstanding as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 is
presented below:

2009

Weighted 
average

Number exercise price

Fixed price options
Outstanding at beginning of year 538,100 $ 7.18
Exercised (7,000) 6.69
Cancelled (10,200) 6.81
Outstanding at end of year 520,900 $ 7.19
Options exercisable at end of year 520,900 $ 7.19

2008

Weighted 
average

Number exercise price

Fixed price options
Outstanding at beginning of year 629,360 $ 6.82
Exercised (77,600) 4.71
Cancelled (13,660) 4.56
Outstanding at end of year 538,100 $ 7.18
Options exercisable at end of year 538,100 $ 7.20
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The table below summarizes information on outstanding and exercisable
fixed price stock options as at December 31, 2009:

Options outstanding and exercisable

Number of options Weighted Weighted
Range of outstanding at average remaining average
exercise prices end of year contractual life exercise price

$3.48 15,000 3.6 years $ 3.48
$6.69 to $8.40 505,900 1.7 year $ 7.30

520,900 $ 7.19

Net earnings per share
Net earnings per share and diluted net earnings per share from continuing
operations were calculated as follows:

2009 2008
(restated)

Numerator
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 21,515 $ 48,018

Denominator
Basic weighted average number of shares 45,057 48,486

Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options 7 123
Shares purchased by a trust in employees’

name on the secondary market 321 178
Diluted weighted average 

number of shares 45,385 48,787
Net earnings per share 
from continuing operations

Basic $ 0.48 $ 0.99
Diluted $ 0.47 $ 0.98

As at December 31, 2009, 505,900 stock options were not included in the
calculation of the potential dilutive effect of common shares because the
exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common
shares during the year. 

18. Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Loss

2009 2008

Unrealized foreign currrency translation
losses $ (26,767) $ (2,809)

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
financial assets 449 131

Closing balance $ (26,318) $ (2,678)

Retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive loss totaled
$217,711 ($229,530 as at December 31, 2008).

19. Cost of Sales
The following table presents the reconciliation of the cost of sales
reflected in earnings to the inventory amount charged to expense during
the year.

2009 2008
(restated)

Cost of sales $ 504,121 $ 615,780
Depreciation of property, plant 

and equipment related to the 
transformation of inventories 15,637 15,169

Inventory amount charged
to expense $ 519,758 $ 630,949

20. Financial Expenses
2009 2008

(restated)

Interest on bank loans $ 516 $ 946
Interest on long-term debt 3,782 4,496
Amortization of deferred 

financing expenses 214 235
$ 4,512 $ 5,677

21. Research and Development Expenses
2009 2008

Research and development expenses 
included in the statements of earnings 
for the year $ 5,384 $ 4,975

22. Employee Future Benefits
The Company offers various defined contribution and defined benefit
pension plans that provide pension benefits to its employees.
Defined benefit pension plans provide benefits that are calculated based
on employees’ years of service and final average income at retirement.
Pension expenses and accrued benefit obligations are established using
actuarial calculations based on management’s best assumptions that are
reviewed by actuaries. 
The defined contribution plan expenses total $2,201 ($ 2,348 in 2008).
Information regarding the Company’s defined benefit pension plans,
considered collectively, is as follows:

2009 2008

Components of cost recognized 
for the year
Current service costs - employer $ 495 $ 701
Interest expense 2,681 2,328
Actual return on plan assets (4,866) 6,027
Amendments to plans - - 1,559
Actuarial loss (gain) 

on accrued benefit obligation 4,118 (8,067)
Pension cost for the year 2,428 2,548

Difference between pension cost 
and cost recognized
Return on plan assets 3,004 (8,211)
Actuarial loss (gain) (3,949) 8,343
Plan amendments 612 (946)
Transitional obligation 7 6
Cost recognized for the year $ 2,102 $ 1,740

2009 2008

Change in accrued benefit obligation
Balance at beginning $ 35,971 $ 40,074
New contract - - 405
Current service costs 495 701
Interest expense 2,681 2,328
Participant contributions 255 269
Benefits paid (1,689) (1,298)
Plan amendments - - 1,559
Actuarial loss (gain) 4,118 (8,067)
Balance at end(1) $ 41,831 $ 35,971
(1) From this amount, $1,767 ($1,933 in 2008) relates to unregistered plans without

assets. 



49Canam Group Inc.

2009 2008

Change in fair value of plan assets
Market value at beginning $ 27,727 $ 32,425
Actual return on plan assets 4,866 (6,027)
Employer contributions 2,406 2,358
Employee contributions 255 269
Benefits paid (1,689) (1,298)
Transfers - net amount 19 - -
Fair value at end $ 33,584 $ 27,727

2009 2008

Reconciliation of the funded status 
of the plans and of liabilities 
to the balance sheets
Deficit at end of year $ (8,247) $ (8,244)
Unamortized transitional obligation 226 234
Unamortized past service costs 1,691 2,303
Unamortized net actuarial losses 6,883 5,938
Accrued benefit assets $ 553 $ 231

The main actuarial assumptions upheld by the Company are the 
following: 

2009 2008

Cost of benefits
Discount rate 7.5% 5.5%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 6.6% 6.6%
Rate of compensation increase 3.25% 3.5%

2009 2008

Accrued benefit obligation
Discount rate 6.4% 7.5%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 3.25%

2009 2008

Percentage of assets per category
Canadian shares 30.3% 27.1%
Foreign shares 21.6% 20.4%
Fixed-income securities 39.9% 43.9%
Short-term investments and cash 8.2% 8.6%

100% 100%

The measurement date for plan assets and accrued benefit obligation is
December 31.
The date of the most recent actuarial valuation was December 31, 2007. 

23. Segment Information
The Company is organized under one single business segment, being 
the construction products segment, which includes many complemen-
tary goods and services.

2009
Property, plant Intangible

Sales and equipment assets

Information by 
geographic area
Canada $ 397,737 $ 112,222 $ 726
United States 206,973 65,431 62
Mexico 193 2,487 - - 
Europe and Asia 20,940 4,219 339

$ 625,843 $ 184,359 $ 1,127

2008
(restated)

Property, plant Intangible
Sales and equipment assets

Information by 
geographic area
Canada $ 401,982 $ 108,318 $ 1,000
United States 347,080 68,910 128
Mexico - - 2,936 - -
Europe and Asia 47,018 5,781 968

$ 796,080 $ 185,945 $ 2,096

Sales are allocated to the subsidiaries’ home countries. 
Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets are allocated by
location.

24. Related Party Balances and Transactions
a) Related party balances are presented separately in the notes to 

consolidated financial statements. The “Other related companies”
heading corresponds to balances of companies that are controlled by
Placements CMI Inc., a company indirectly controlled by the Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, who holds
16.13% (15.98% as at December 31, 2008) of the Company’s common
shares.

b) Related party transactions involving sales, purchases, selling and
administrative expenses, as well as the sale of property, plant and
equipment took place in the normal course of operations and are rec-
ognized at the exchange value corresponding to the carrying value,
which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the
related parties.

2009
Selling and Property,

administrative plant and
Sales Purchases expenses equipment

Companies subject to 
significant influence $ 4,258 $ 8,127 $ 2,931 $ 10

Other related companies 2,812 3,136 2,507 815
$ 7,070 $11,263 $ 5,438 $ 825

2008
Selling and Property,

administrative plant and
Sales Purchases expenses equipment

Companies subject to 
significant influence $ 4,063 $ 2,609 $ 3,178 $ - -

Joint ventures 3,229 869 3 - -
Other related companies 4,556 4,329 2,794 1,305

$ 11,848 $ 7,807 $ 5,975 $ 1,305

c) During fiscal 2009 and 2008, transactions that took place outside the
ordinary course of business described in note 5 a) and b) were con-
ducted with related parties and were recognized at the exchange value.
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25. Contingencies and Commitments
- The Company is a defendant in a number of lawsuits, claims and

imminent litigations. In the opinion of management, the resolution of
these lawsuits, claims and litigations will not have a significant
adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.

- The Company contracted letters of credit for an amount of up to
$1,892 at December 31, 2009 ($3,222 as at December 31, 2008). 

- In the normal course of business, the Company has guaranteed com-
mitments for semitrailers and forestry equipment leased to clients for
an amount of up to $481 as at December 31, 2009 ($954 as at
Decem ber 31, 2008).

-    The Company acts as a guarantor for a long-term debt of $4,229
contracted by a company subject to significant influence. 

- The Company’s total commitments under operating leases amount to
$20,523. Future minimum payments required over the next five years
are as follows:

2010 $ 4,370
2011 $ 3,103
2012 $ 2,424
2013 $ 1,509
2014 $ 1,107

26. Financial Instruments
Fair value of financial instruments
The Company has established the following classifications: 
- Cash is classified under “Assets Held for Trading”. 
- Accounts receivable and long-term receivables, except for the deben-

ture receivable from Manac Inc. included in discontinued operations,
are classified under “Loans and Receivables”. 

- Investments and the debenture receivable from Manac Inc. are classi-
fied under “Available-for-Sale Assets”. 

- Bank loans, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and long-term
debt are classified under “Other Financial Liabilities”. 

The Company uses the following methods and estimates to determine
the fair value of each category of financial instruments whose values are
included in the consolidated balance sheet: 
Loans and receivables
The carrying values of financial instruments approximate their fair values
due to their short-term maturity and the prevailing interest rates of these
instruments, which are comparable to those of the market. 
Available for sale
Bid quoted market prices on the balance sheet date are used to establish
the fair value of investments for which active markets exist. 
The fair value of the debenture receivable from Manac Inc. was estab-
lished by discounting expected cash flows at rates currently being
offered to the Company for debts with the same maturity date and con-
ditions.
The other investments for which no active markets exist are recognized
at cost. The Company does not intend to dispose of its financial instru-
ments. 
Other financial liabilities
The carrying values of financial instruments approximate their fair values
due to their short-term maturity and the prevailing interest rates of these
instruments, which are comparable to those of the market. The fair value
of long-term debts was established by discounting expected cash flows
at rates currently being offered to the Company for debts with the same
maturity date and same conditions.  

Risk management policies and processes 
In the normal course of its operations, the Company is exposed to
liquid ity and funding risk, interest rate risk, credit risk as well as currency
risk. Management analyses these risks and implements strategies in
order to minimize their impact on the Company’s performance.

Liquidity and funding risk 
The Company has a conservative approach with regard to the manage-
ment of its liquid assets. It makes use of short and long-term financing 
at several financial institutions and matches operating and investing
activities with financing activities. 
In Canada, the Company set up the following credit facilities:
a) Revolving credit of $80,000 with a banking syndicate, unused as at

December 31, 2009 and 2008, maturing in October 2011.
b) Non-revolving credit of $41,867 as at December 31, 2009 ($44,635 as

at December 31, 2008), maturing in November 2016 and amortized
over a 14-year period. 

c) Non-revolving credit of $12,596 as at December 31, 2009 ($14,062 as
at December 31, 2008), maturing in June 2018. 
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In the United States, the Company set up the following credit facilities
through its subsidiary:
a) Revolving credit of US$50,000, unused as at December 31, 2009,

(US$8,500 as at December 31, 2008), maturing in October 2012. 
b) Non-revolving credit of US$8,556 as at December 31, 2009 (US$9,222

as at December 31, 2008), maturing in October 2012 and amortized
over a 15-year period. 

Interest rate risk
The Company’s policy is to limit its exposure to interest rate risk fluctua-
tions by ensuring that a reasonable portion of its bank loan and
long-term debt are at fixed rates. As at December 31, 2009, 80% of the
bank loan and long-term debt were at fixed rates (69% as at
December 31, 2008), i.e. $54,463 ($58,697 as at December 31, 2008) on a
total debt of $67,689 ($85,500 as at December 31, 2008). The fixed
weighted average interest rate for long-term debt was 5,81% as at
December 31, 2009 and 2008 for an average weighted period of 7.22
years (8.23 years as at December 31, 2008). Management does not
believe that the impact of interest rate fluctuations on operating results
will be significant. 

Credit risk
The Company takes on exposure to credit risks that are mainly associ-
ated with its accounts receivable, i.e. the risk that a client will be unable to
pay amounts in full when due. The Company considers credit risk to be
limited for the following reasons:
a) The Company conducts an ongoing evaluation of its clients and has

adopted a credit policy that defines the evaluation criteria. The estab-
lished procedures ensure that the Company benefits from maximum
protection through guarantees available in the North American 
construction industry.

b) The Company sells to a wide range of clients that operate in various
sectors and geographical regions. 

c) The Company establishes provisions for doubtful accounts while
keeping in mind the specific credit risk of clients, their historical ten-
dencies and the economic situation. 

Currency risk
The Company is exposed to the two following types of currency risk:
a) Translation of foreign currency transactions

The Company is mainly exposed to currency risk on sales of
Canadian-made products in US dollars. The Company considers
this currency risk to be limited for the following reasons:
i) the Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts

for the sale of US dollars according to anticipated net cash
flows;

ii) the Company’s presence on North American markets as well
as its fabrication and delivery capabilities allow it to select the
most appropriate fabrication location according to price, cost,
and foreign currency fluctuations;

iii) for raw materials purchases, particularly steel, prices are
usually denominated in US dollars, and the Company maxi-
mizes its purchases from the United States and international
sources through payment in US dollars.

b) Translation of financial statements of self-sustaining foreign
operations
The translation of financial statements of self-sustaining foreign
operations generates an exchange loss or gain that is recorded
under shareholders’ equity in the item “Accumulated other compre-
hensive loss”. As at December 31, 2009, the unrealized foreign
currency translation loss totals $26,767 compared to December 31,
2008, when the Company recorded an unrealized exchange loss of
$2,809. Unrealized exchange gains and losses result mainly from
the translation of the U.S. subsidiary’s financial statements. 

As at December 31, 2009, the Company held no foreign currency
forward contracts.
As at December 31, 2008, the Company held the following foreign
currency forward contracts:

Type Average Contract
rate amounts

Maturity (US dollars)

From 0 to 6 months Sale 1.1767 $ 18,000

The following table presents the remaining contractual maturities for bank loans and long-term debt as at December 31, 2009: 

Maturities

Within From 1 to 3 From 3 to 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total

Non-revolving loan of $41,867 $ 2,961 $ 6,450 $ 7,224 $ 25,232 $ 41,867
Non-revolving loan of $12,596 1,500 3,000 3,000 5,096 12,596
Non-revolving loan of $8,992 (US$8,556) 701 8,291 - - - - 8,992
Other bank loans and long-term debts 315 631 631 2,657 4,234

$ 5,477 $ 18,372 $ 10,855 $ 32,985 $ 67,689
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27. Joint Ventures
United Steel Structures Ltd. (USSL): The Company owns a 49% interest in
a company located in Guangzhou, China. The plant mainly produces
structural steel and bridges for international markets.
During fiscal 2008, Canam Russia Limited (May 1), Canam Asia Limited
(December 1), and Amcan-Jumax Inc. (December 1) became companies
subject to significant influence following modifications made to the
shareholders’ agreements. The Company’s interests in these companies
were accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method as 
at December 31, 2008 as of these respective dates. Previously, these
interests were recognized as joint ventures, and the proportionate con-
solidation method was applied to account for assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses. 
On June 10, 2009, Canam Russia Limited repurchased the 35% interest
held by Steel Plus Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. A
gain on disposal of investment of $185 was recorded following this
transaction.
Canam Asia Limited (35% interest) owns plants in Dammam, Saudi
Arabia and Ra’s Al Khaymah in the United Arab Emirates. The plants
mainly produce steel joists for markets in the Middle East and North
Africa. 
Amcan-Jumax Inc. (37.5% interest) is a structural bolts distributor located
in Saint-Hubert, Canada.
The main elements from joint ventures included in the consolidated
financial statements are as follows:

2009 2008

Consolidated balance sheets
Current assets

Cash $ 9,924 $ 3,479
Accounts receivable 2,398 11,245
Inventories 2,108 3,027
Other 121 157

Property, plant and equipment 285 584
Future income tax assets 289 255
Other long-term assets - - 57
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,051 $ 3,054
Income taxes payable 55 - -

Consolidated statements of cash flows
Operating activities $ 9,043 $ 3,119
Financing activities 275 (2,048)
Investing activities (4) (66)

Consolidated statements of earnings
Sales $ 18,214 $ 34,586
Cost of sales 15,835 30,249
Selling and administrative expenses 1,012 1,032
Exchange loss 44 535
Depreciation of property, plant  

and equipment 291 497
Financial expenses (34) (39)
Income tax expense 230 (193)
Net earnings $ 836 $ 2,505

28. Capital Management
In terms of capital management, the Company’s objectives consist in
preserving its ability to pursue operations in order to continue gener-
ating returns to shareholders and advantages to other stakeholders as
well as maintaining an optimal capital structure to reduce capital costs. 
In order to maintain or readjust its capital structure according to
economic conditions, the Company may be required to modify the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, remit capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets in order to lower debt.
In compliance with mainstream practices in its industry, the Company
uses the net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio. Net debt comprises bank
loans and long-term debt, net of cash. 
In 2009, the Company followed the same strategy as in 2008, i.e.
maintain the net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio below 0.5. 
Net debt to shareholders’ equity ratios as at December 31, 2009 and
2008 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars, except for ratios) 2009 2008
(restated)

Net debt $ 296 $ 69,881
Shareholders’ equity $ 400,597 $ 413,614
Net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio - - 0.17

29. Subsequent Events
Increased interest in Amcan-Jumax Inc.
On January 28, 2010, the Company increased from 37.5% to 50% its
interest in the share capital of Amcan-Jumax Inc., a structural nuts and
bolts distributor for the construction market. Amcan-Jumax Inc. was
considered an entity subject to significant influence, and following this
transaction, this interest will be recorded as a joint venture and
accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method. 

Dividends on common shares
On February 23, 2010, the Board of Directors approved the payment of a
quarterly dividend of $0.04 per common share that will be paid on
March 31, 2010 to shareholders of record on March 17, 2010.

Increased interest in FabSouth LLC 
and FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC
On February 23, 2010, the Company signed a final agreement to increase
its interest in FabSouth LLC and FS Real Estate Holdings, LLC by 65% and
63.33%, respectively, for a total consideration of US$65,000. Following
this acquisition, the Company’s interest in FabSouth LLC and FS Real
Estate Holdings, LLC would be 80%, respectively. This transaction is con-
ditional upon the approval of U.S. regulatory authorities. Once the
approval is obtained, an amount of US$60,000 would be paid, and an
amount of US$5,000 would be withheld as a provision for adjustments,
of which US$2,500 would be payable on September 1, 2010, and
US$2,500 would be payable on December 1, 2010.  
As part of this transaction, the Company has also agreed to purchase the
balance of the membership interest in FabSouth LLC and FS Real Estate
Holdings, LLC, i.e. 20% in each of these companies, over a three-year
period for a consideration ranging from US$15,000 to US$25,000, based
on the EBITDA of fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012.

30. Comparative Figures
In order to conform to the current year presentation, certain 2008 figures
have been restated.
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President and Chief Operating Officer 
John Bradley
Vice President, Credit
Michael Burnet
Vice President, Purchasing
Mihran Cicek
Vice President, Research and Analysis
Jasmin Gosselin
Vice President, Communications
Louis Guertin
Vice President, Legal Affairs, and Secretary 
René Guizzetti
Vice President, Corporate Control and Taxation
François de Paul Nkombou
Vice President, Internal Audit 
Annie Paquet
Vice President, Innovation Support 
Charles Pinel
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Raymond Pomerleau
Treasurer
Claude Provost
Vice President, Human Resources
Jean Thibodeau
President, Technyx, and Vice President, Information Systems
Richard Vincent
Vice President, Research 

Canam Canada
Mario Bernard
President, Canam and Structal-Bridges
Charles Alexander 
Business Development Manager
Tony Bégin 
Commercial Development Manager
Nicolas Côté
Project Management and Engineering Manager, Murox
Larry Doyon 
Commercial Development Manager, New England
Serge Dussault
Vice President, Engineering, Canam Canada, 
Structal-Heavy Steel Construction and Technyx
Anthony Gerace
Architectural Services Manager
Michael Holleran
Engineering Services Manager, Western Canada and Ontario

Maurice Landry
Project Coordination Manager
Paul LeStrange
Senior Sales Manager, New England 
Joël Nadeau
Vice President
Sébastien Paré
Engineering Services Manager, Eastern Canada and New England
Frédéric Perron
Marketing Manager
George Poumbouras 
Commercial Development Manager
Raymond Thorburn
National Sales Manager
Patrice Tremblay
Senior Construction and Product Development Manager

Canam United States
Sam Blatchford
President, Canam United States and Hambro
Mary Gordon
Vice President, Administration, and Corporate Controller
Ron W. Peppe II
Vice President, Legal Services and Human Resources, and Secretary
Tariq Rashdi
Vice President and General Manager, Washington, Missouri plant
Russ Rocco
Vice President, Joist and Steel Deck, United States,
and General Manager, Jacksonville, Florida plant
Michael Romano
Vice President and General Manager, Point of Rocks, Maryland plant
Roger Roudebush
Vice President and General Manager, Sunnyside, Washington plant

Canam International
Georges Hage-Chahine
President 
Armand Brisson
Vice General Manager and Business Development Director, 
Canam (Tianjin) Building Solutions Co. Ltd.
Michel Couillard
Vice President and General Manager, Canam Steel Romania 
Jean Demers
Manager, Construction Projects 
Pierre Gignac
Vice President, Engineering
Serge Moreau
Manager, Engineering 
Anne Quirion
Manager, International Affairs 
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Hambro
Sam Blatchford
President, Canam United States and Hambro
François Dutil
Vice President
Bob Robes
Vice President, Sales

Manufacturing Division
Mario Bernard
President, Canam and Structal-Bridges
Michael Burnet
Vice President, Purchasing
Stephan Croteau
General Manager, Calgary, Alberta plant 
Abdul Hadibhai
General Manager, Mississauga, Ontario plant 
Alain Leduc
General Manager, Boucherville, Quebec plant
Annie Paquet
Vice President, Innovation Support 
Jean-Réal Poirier
Vice President, Operations, Quebec Region
Pierre Turgeon
Vice President, Administration and Control, Canadian Operations

Structal-Heavy Steel Construction
Luc Pelland
President
François Brière
Vice President, Business Development, Canada 
Serge Dussault
Vice President, Engineering, Canam Canada, 
Structal-Heavy Steel Construction and Technyx
Peter Frantz
Vice President, Sales, United States, and Director of International
Business Development
Michel Lafrance
Vice President, Operations 
William Muchesko
Vice President, Operations, United States 
Daniel Renaud
Manager, Project Management, Canada 
Charles Watson
President, Structal-Heavy Steel Construction, United States

Structal-Bridges
Mario Bernard
President, Canam and Structal-Bridges
Camille Bernier
Operations Manager, Quebec City, Quebec plant 
Dominique Blouin
Technical and Construction Manager
Denis Fleurent
General Manager, Goodco Z-Tech
Robin Lapointe
General Manager, Structal-Bridges
Éric Lévesque
Commercial Development Manager
Tariq Rashdi
Business Development Manager
Robert Richard
General Manager, Claremont, New Hampshire plant
Dominique Tétreault
Sales Manager

Technyx
Jean Thibodeau
President, Technyx 
General Manager, Technyx Euro Services, Brasov 
Isabelle Bégin
Manager, Administration and Operations Support 
Roger Calvé
Chief Drafting Coordinator
Ronan Collins
Managing Director, InteliBuild Technyx Asia Limited 
Serge Dussault
Vice President, Engineering, Canam Canada, 
Structal-Heavy Steel Construction and Technyx
Partha Pratim Ghosh
General Manager, Kolkata, India office
Sébastien Grondin
Chief Drafter, Structural Steel 
Jean-Luc Lachance
BIM Technical Manager 
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY
Canam Group Inc.
www.canamgroup.ws
Quebec
Head Office
11535, 1re Avenue, bureau 500
Saint-Georges (Québec)  G5Y 7H5
Telephone: 418-228-8031
Toll-free: 1-877-499-6049
Fax: 418-228-1750
Administrative Center 
270, chemin Du Tremblay
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 5X9
Telephone: 450-641-4000
Toll-free: 1-866-506-4000
Fax: 450-641-4001

Canam Canada
www.canam.ws
Alberta
Plant and Sales Office
323 - 53rd Avenue South East
Calgary, Alberta  T2H 0N2
Telephone: 403-252-7591
Toll-free: 1-866-203-2001
Fax: 403-253-7708
British Columbia
Sales Office
95 Schooner Street
Coquitlam, British Columbia  V3K 7A8
Telephone: 403-252-7591
Toll-free: 1-866-203-2001
Fax: 604-523-2181
New Brunswick
Sales Office
95 Foundry Street
Heritage Court, Suite 417
Moncton, New Brunswick  E1C 5H7
Telephone: 506-857-3164
Toll-free: 1-800-210-7833
Fax: 506-857-3253
Ontario
Plant and Sales Office
1739 Drew Road
Mississauga, Ontario  L5S 1J5
Telephone: 905-671-3460
Toll-free: 1-800-446-8897
Fax: 905-671-3924
Quebec
Management
11505, 1re Avenue, bureau 500
Saint-Georges (Québec)  G5Y 7X3
Telephone: 418-228-8031
Toll-free: 1-877-499-6049
Fax: 418-227-5424
Plant
115, boulevard Canam Nord
Saint-Gédéon-de-Beauce (Québec)  G0M 1T0
Telephone: 418-582-3331
Toll-free: 1-888-849-5910
Fax: 418-582-3381
Plant and Sales Office
200, boulevard Industriel
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 2X4
Telephone: 450-641-8770
Toll-free: 1-800-463-1582
Fax: 450-641-8769
Sales Office
270, chemin Du Tremblay
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 5X9
Telephone: 450-641-4000
Toll-free: 1-866-466-8769
Fax: 450-641-9585

Canam United States
www.canam.ws
Florida
Plant and Sales Office
140 South Ellis Road
Jacksonville, Florida  32254
Telephone: 904-781-0898
Toll-free: 1-888-781-0898
Fax: 904-781-4090
Maryland
Management and Plant
4010 Clay Street, PO Box 285
Point of Rocks, Maryland  21777-0285
Telephone: 301-874-5141
Toll-free: 1-800-638-4293
Fax: 301-874-5685
Massachusetts
Sales Office
50 Eastman Street
Easton, Massachusetts  02334-1245
Telephone: 508-238-4500
Toll-free: 1-800-926-5926
Fax: 508-238-8253
Mississippi
Sales Office
4925 24th Place
Meridian, Mississippi  39305
Telephone: 601-483-3345
Fax: 601- 483-3070
Missouri
Plant and Sales Office
2000 West Main Street
Washington, Missouri  63090-1008
Telephone: 636-239-6716
Fax: 636-239-4135
Washington
Plant and Sales Office
2002 Morgan Road
Sunnyside, Washington  98944
Telephone: 509-837-7008
Toll-free: 1-800-359-7308
Fax: 509-839-0383
Sales Office
240 North West Gilman Boulevard, Suite G
Issaquah, Washington  98027
Telephone: 425-392-2935
Fax: 425-392-3149

Canam International
www.canaminternational.ws
Quebec
Management
270, chemin Du Tremblay
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 5X9
Telephone: 450-641-4000
Toll-free: 1-866-506-4000
Fax: 450-641-4001
Canam Asia Limited
Management and Plant
PO Box 877
Street No.5, 1st Industrial City
Dammam, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia  31421
Telephone: (966) (3) 847 2129
Fax: (966) (3) 847 3581
www.canamasia.com
Sales Office
PO Box 51327
Ittihad Road, Deira
Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Telephone: (971) (4) 294 0424
Fax: (971) (4) 294 0434
Plant
PO Box 31753
Main Street, Al Jazeera Al Hamra
Ra’s Al Khaymah, United Arab Emirates
Telephone: (971) (7) 205 1555
Fax: (971) (7) 244 7552
Canam Romsa de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Carretera Monterrey-Laredo km. 22.450
Cienega de Flores, Nuevo León, México
PO Box 65550
Telephone: (52 81) 82 62 26 26
Fax: (52 81) 82 62 26 19
www.canam.com.mx
Canam S.A.S.
4, rue Denis Papin
B.P. 8616 - 79026
Niort CEDEX 09
France
Telephone: (33) 05 49 04 47 00
Fax: (33) 05 49 79 19 06
www.canamfrance.com
Canam Steel Romania S.R.L.
Sales Office
Ionescu Crum Street, Nr. 9
Judetul Brasov 500446, Romania
Telephone: (40 268) 31 43 73
Fax: (40 268) 31 50 28
Canam (Tianjin) Building Solutions Co. Ltd.
Sales Office
Room 404, East part, Building E7A 
Jin Rong Jie Street
20 GuangChang Dong Lu Road
Tianjin Developing Zone, Tianjin 300457 PRC
Telephone: 86 1860 222 9348
KMA Metall Limited
Stary Oskol
309507 Belgorodskaja region
mkr. Olimpiskiy, 62
Russia
Telephone: 7-4725-43-96-02
Fax: 7-4725-43-95-03
www.kmametall.ru
United Steel Structures Ltd.
40 South Fang Cun Road
Guangzhou, Guangdong, China  510380
Telephone: (86) 20-8159 2451
Fax: (86) 20-8156 6136
www.ussl.com
Zamil Steel Buildings Vietnam Co., Ltd.
Plant and Sales Office
No. 214-216 Amata Road, Amata Industrial Park
Bien Hoa City, Dong Nai Province
Vietnam
Telephone: (84) 613 936 888
Fax: (84) 613 936 889
www.zamilsteel.com.vn
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Hambro
www.hambro.ws
Sales Offices, Canada
British Columbia
95 Schooner Street
Coquitlam, British Columbia  V3K 7A8
Telephone: 403-252-7591
Toll-free: 1-866-203-2001
Fax: 604-523-2181
Ontario
1739 Drew Road
Mississauga, Ontario  L5S 1J5
Telephone: 416-674-8031
Toll-free: 1-800-871-8876
Fax: 416-674-7327
Quebec
Management
270, chemin Du Tremblay
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 5X9
Telephone: 450-641-4000
Toll-free: 1-866-506-4000
Fax: 450-641-4001

Sales Offices, United States
Florida
450 East Hillsboro Boulevard
Deerfield Beach, Florida  33441
Telephone: 954-571-3030
Toll-free: 1-800-546-9008
Fax: 954-571-3031
Indiana
3425 Old Highway 135 Southwest
Corydon, Indiana  47112
Telephone: 812-734-1080
Toll-free: 1-800-546-9008
Fax: 812-734-1081
Wisconsin
3809 State Highway 13
Wisconsin Dells, Wisconsin  53965
Telephone: 608-254-1801
Fax: 608-254-1801

Structal-Heavy Steel
Construction
www.structal.ws
Sales Office, Canada
Quebec
Management
270, chemin Du Tremblay
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 5X9
Telephone: 450-641-4000
Toll-free: 1-866-506-4000
Fax: 450-641-4001

Sales Office, United States
Maryland
4010 Clay Street, PO Box 285
Point of Rocks, Maryland  21777-0285
Telephone: 301-874-5141
Toll-free: 1-800-638-4293
Fax: 301-874-5075

Structal-Bridges
www.structalbridges.ws
Management, Plant and Sales Office
Canada
Quebec
1445, rue du Grand-Tronc
Québec (Québec)  G1N 4G1
Telephone: 418-683-2561
Toll-free: 1-877-304-2561
Fax: 418-688-8512

Plants, United States
Maryland
4010 Clay Street, PO Box 285
Point of Rocks, Maryland  21777-0285
Telephone: 301-874-5141
Toll-free: 1-800-638-4293
Fax: 301-874-5075
New Hampshire
386 River Road
Claremont, New Hampshire  03743
Telephone: 603-542-5202
Fax: 603-542-5317
Washington
2002 Morgan Road
Sunnyside, Washington  98944
Telephone: 509-837-7008
Toll-free: 1-800-359-7308
Fax: 509-839-0383

Goodco Z-Tech
www.goodcoztech.ws
Ontario
Sales Office
1739 Drew Road
Mississauga, Ontario  L5S 1J5
Telephone: 416-609-1455
Fax: 416-609-2547
Quebec
Plant and Sales Office
807, rue Marshall, bureau 100
Laval (Québec)  H7S 1J9
Telephone: 450-786-1300
Toll-free: 1-800-361-3510
Fax: 450-786-1301

Technyx
www.technyx.ws
Canada
Management
270, chemin Du Tremblay
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 5X9
Telephone: 450-641-4000
Toll-free: 1-866-506-4000
Fax: 450-641-4001
Canada
11505, 1re Avenue, bureau 500
Saint-Georges (Québec)  G5Y 7X3
Telephone: 418-228-8031
Toll-free: 1-877-499-6049
Fax: 418-225-9802
Hong Kong
InteliBuild Technyx Asia Ltd.
26th Floor
North Point Asia-Pac Commercial Centre
10 North Point Road
Hong Kong
Telephone: 852 8102 7466
Fax: 852 3015 8290
India
GN 37/B, Sector V
Salt Lake, Kolkata
700 091 India
Telephone: (91 33) 23 57 58 65
Fax: (91 33) 23 57 59 14
Romania
Ionescu Crum Street, Nr. 9
Judetul Brasov 500446, Romania
Telephone: (40 268) 31 80 57
Fax: (40 268) 31 50 28

VertiSpace
www.vertispace.ws
Maryland
Management and Sales Office
4010 Clay Street, PO Box 285
Point of Rocks, Maryland 21777-0285
Telephone: 301-874-5141
Toll-free: 1-800-638-4293
Fax: 301-874-5685
Pennsylvania
Sales Office
674 North Chubb Drive
Doylestown, Pennsylvania  18901
Telephone: 215-345-7807
Fax: 215-345-7808

CORPORATE DIRECTORY



The Company 
continues to foster a

respectful relationship 
with its employees 

based on regular and
candid discussions.

On October 1, 2009, employees and management 
team members in Mississauga, Ontario celebrated
their 25th anniversary as a member of the Canam
Group family.
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Head Office
11535, 1re Avenue, bureau 500
Saint-Georges (Québec)  G5Y 7H5
Telephone: 418-228-8031

1-877-499-6049
Fax: 418-228-1750

Administrative Center 
270, chemin Du Tremblay
Boucherville (Québec)  J4B 5X9
Telephone: 450-641-4000

1-866-506-4000
Fax: 450-641-4001

www.canamgroup.ws

Mixed Sources
Product group from well-managed forests,
controlled sources and recycled wood or fiber
www.fsc.org   Cert no. SW-COC-000952
© 1996 Forest Stewardship Council




